

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

Goal and Strategy Formation for Persistence for Men of Color at a Community College

Owen G. DeVance Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Owen G. DeVance

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Katherine Garlough, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. Charles Cook, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. Markus Berndt, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2021

Abstract

Goal and Strategy Formation for Persistence for Men of Color at a Community College

by

Owen G DeVance

MA, California State University, Long Beach, 1997

BS, California State University, Long Beach, 1992

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

Walden University

December 2021

Abstract

At a community college, the first-year student persistence rates for men of color, especially Black men (61.6%), were lower than for White students (70.3%). The purpose of this study was to determine if men of color at the community college had high goals and self-efficacy strategies already in place or whether they receive application guidance in setting high goals and developing self-efficacy strategies in the admissions/enrollment process during the first year. Bandura's theory of self-efficacy was the framework used to guide this study. The research questions explored setting goals at the community college during the admissions process or during the first year for men of color and how it makes a difference in their first-year persistence at the research site. The methodology of this study was a basic qualitative design. Semi-structured interviews were conducted with a selected sample of eight men of color to determine if they used high goals and selfefficacy strategies for persistence. The resulting qualitative data were coded manually and then entered into the NVivo software program. Data analysis yielded five themes: preference for institutional support of academics over athletics, limited understanding of mentorship, impact of admissions versus academic advising staff on goals, belief in the self as the arbiter of success, and lack of an academic roadmap. These findings were the basis for a policy brief that included recommendations that advising and admissions staff work together to assist men of color in creating academic goals and strategies. These recommendations could ensure sustained persistence in higher education for men of color, resulting in positive social change.

Goal and Strategy Formation for Persistence for Men of Color at a Community College

by

Owen G DeVance

MA, California State University, Long Beach, 1997 BS, California State University, Long Beach, 1992

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

Walden University

December 2021

Dedication

I dedicate the accomplishment of this educational endeavor to the memory of my childhood growing up on Teague Street in Longview, Texas, hearing stories from a couple of old men, one a teacher from Chicago who talked about the importance of an education, and the other, a dreamer who wanted to write a movie script but had no success due to life conditions. These two men inspired me to challenge myself to go further and leave a legacy for my kids and grandkids.

Acknowledgments

First and above all, I give thanks to God for his watch, care, and protection, and for giving me the will to persevere through all the challenges involved in helping to make this goal a reality.

I would like to take this opportunity to express my appreciation and thanks to my advisor and dissertation chairperson, Dr. Katherine Garlough, for her patience and guidance, valuable advice, and encouragement throughout the course of my study at Walden University. Dr Garlough went above and beyond to take me to the point I am at now. I am forever grateful for her faith and belief in me. I would further like to thank Dr. Charles Cook and Dr. Markus Berndt as members of my committee for providing valuable feedback in the completion of this project.

Special thanks go to members of the staff at the California community college that served as the project site for their support during the completion of this project. A very special thanks to the institution's Gateway to College program director, who served as a role model by giving me sage advice in how to complete this project.

Finally, a very special thanks to friends and families for always giving me encouragement and for believing in me when I had doubts about myself.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	1V
List of Figures	v
Section 1: The Problem	1
The Local Problem	1
Rationale	4
Definition of Terms	5
Significance of the Study	8
Research Question	9
Review of the Literature	10
Conceptual Framework	10
Review of the Broader Problem	14
Implications	30
Summary	32
Section 2: The Methodology	34
Qualitative Research Design and Approach	34
Participants	37
Data Collection	40
Data Analysis	42
Data Analysis Results	46
Discussion of Themes	55
Discussion of the Results in Terms of the Research Questions	57
Discussion of the Results in Terms of the Literature	58

Discussion of the Results in Terms of the Concep	tual Framework61
Evidence of Quality	64
Discrepant Cases	65
Limitations	65
Section 3: The Project	66
Introduction	66
Rationale	67
Review of the Literature	69
White Papers	70
Goal and Strategy Policies	70
Project Description	72
Policy Recommendations Evidence	74
Elements of the Policy Recommendation	79
Resources, Existing Supports, and Potential Barri	ers84
Proposal for Implementation and Timetable	85
Roles and Responsibilities of Students and Others	85
Project Evaluation Plan	85
Project Implications	86
Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions	89
Project Strengths and Limitations	89
Project Strengths	89
Project Limitations	90
Recommendations for Alternative Approaches	91

Scholarship, Project Development and Evaluation, and Leadership and

Change	92
Scholarship	
Project Development	93
Leadership and Change	94
Reflection on Importance of the Work	95
Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research	96
Conclusion	97
References	99
Appendix: The Project	124

List of Tables

Table 1	2
Table 2	53
Table 3	55
Table 4	58
Table A1	126
Table A2	128

List of Figures

Figure 1	Process for	Navigating	the First Vear	of Collage		138
rigure i	r rocess jor	wavigaiing	me rusi rear	oj Conege	•••••	. 130

Section 1: The Problem

The Local Problem

The local problem is that men of color entering community colleges may not have academic goals or self-efficacy strategies to help them persist in college. At community colleges, persistence rates are tracked by the completion of 30 units over a 6-year period (California Community College Chancellors Office, 2019). At the site, Black and Latino men had the lowest persistence rate among all students who entered during the Fall 2017. The persistence rate for men of color was 61.6% compared to 70.3% for Whites (California Community College Chancellors Office, 2019). Application guidance that supports academic goal setting and self-efficacy strategy may make a difference in persistence for male students of color at the site.

The persistence of men of color at U.S. community colleges is different than at 4-year institutions, and their experiences and backgrounds are also different (Wood & Williams, 2013). Yet, most research literature on male students of color focuses on 4-year institutions (Harris & Wood, 2013). Black men in 2-year institutions are likely to be older, to have dependents, and to support themselves (Harris & Wood, 2014); therefore, they are likely to be less ambitious about pursuing a 4-year degree (Wood & Harris, 2015). More importantly, 2-year Black male students are less likely to have social and academic integration, as found in 4-year students (Harris & Wood, 2013). Therefore, it is crucial to distinguish persistence between 2-year and 4-year students.

At the public community college in Southern California under study, persistence among men of color was one of the primary issues facing the college, according to its

CEO (personal communication, December 2015). The CEO said that a low persistence rate among men of color has much to do with life issues that include high poverty rates, lack of academic preparation, and lack of job opportunities. A better understanding of academic goal setting and strategy-formation by men of color during the application process may make a difference in the guidance that college staff offer for persistence during the first year at the community college.

Academic goal setting is included in the online application on the community college website via a drop-down menu from the student selections part of the form. The drop-down menu has a predetermined list of academic goals for students to choose from. An example of an academic goal would be a student attempting to complete a 2-year degree. Table 1 shows the academic goals presented to students in the application form.

 Table 1

 Educational Goals Listed on the Research Site's Online Application Form

Number	Goal
1	Complete credits for a four-year degree Obtain a two-year degree and with the intent of transferring to 4-year institution
2	Transfer to a 4-year institution without the associate degree
3	Complete studies to obtain a 2-year associate degree without transfer
4	Complete high school credits for a diploma or GED
5	Go from taking noncredit coursework to work toward a degree
6	Complete credits for a four-year degree

At the site, students may or may not be advised to select their academic goals before, during, or after the admissions process by an admissions officer, academic advisor, or external/internal mentor. Advisement is offered but not required. I use the

term *application guidance* throughout this capstone to refer to the support of any admissions officers, academic advisors, or internal/external mentors.

Many students become persistent at community college through academic goal setting and strategizing (Hatch & Garcia, 2017). It is essential that students set goals at the application stage because they will work harder to meet those goals and direct their learning (Ryan & Deci, 2000). The three possible sources of application guidance for setting and strategizing academic goals are admissions officers, academic advisors, and mentors. For this study, mentors could be external or internal to the academic institution and included members of the broader community. Officials did not offer application guidance for academic goal setting and strategy formation at the site. There is evidence showing that it is relevant in preparing men of color for persistence (Maguire, 2019; Roman, 2007).

Men of color at U.S. community colleges have more limited academic success during their first year compared to other college students, research shows (Wood et al., 2014). Statewide, the persistence rate (completion of 30 units) at California community colleges for Blacks and Hispanics combined was 63.4% compared to Whites at 72.2% as of Fall 2017 (California Community College Chancellors Office, 2019). Furthermore, men of color were less likely to complete their goals (e.g., certificate, degree, transfer) than other male students (Wood et al., 2014). Low persistence rates affect students not only in completing college goals; it affects the community because of the loss of skills and knowledge.

Rationale

Several studies related to persistence and men of color point out the disproportionate number of students who fail to persist during their first year of community college (Tovar, 2015). According to some experts, Black male students leave college and fail to persist because of stigmatization and negative stereotypes (Wood & Williams, 2013). However, many Black male students do continue and persist to complete a degree (Hagedorn et al., 2001; Palmer et al., 2015). For this reason, the success of male students of color, especially Black and Latino men, should be acknowledged as much as the low persistence and graduation rates.

Students need to have strategies and self-efficacy to overcome hurdles that may impede persistence (Casperan & Raaen, 2014; O'Neil & Thompson, 2013; Pajares & Schunk, 2001). Application guidance is particularly relevant to men of color seeking college admission (Bethea, 2016). Admission officers are necessary in the application guidance process due to a lack of academic preparation among men of color, especially for first-year math courses (Bowen & Bok, 2016). According to Bethea (2016), who researched minority admission professionals, many U.S. colleges lack intentional resources to prepare students of color. The resources omitted include college applications, workshops, and structured programs and conversations about communicating about oneself other than through transcripts (Bethea, 2016). The lack of an application guidance process as a resource contributed to a decrease in persistence, Goldrick-Rad et al. (2016) found.

The success of men of color at community college affects society in general. Strategies employed by men of color to persist impact society from a sociopolitical and economic perspective (McGlynn, 2011). As more men of color obtain degrees, the United States may be better able to compete in the global knowledge economy (Harrison, 2018). The achievement of Black and Latino students in community college will lead to a more positive narrative regarding graduation and persistence (Harrison, 2018). More importantly, the rise in the education level may impact the standing of the United States around the world. The purpose of this study was to determine if men of color at the community college have high goals and self-efficacy strategies already in place or whether they receive application guidance in setting high goals and developing self-efficacy strategies during the admissions/enrollment process or during the first year.

Definition of Terms

Academic goals: For this study, a term that refers to broad statements that are part of the strategic plan related to a student's matriculation and academic adjustments within the college (Keflezighi et al., 2016).

Academic preparation: Academic performance and skills that will inform future efficacy judgments (Honicke & Broadbent, 2016).

Application guidance: The support provided by admissions officers, academic advisors, or internal/external mentors during and after the application process.

College-prepared: Students who have minimal course attempts in math and English (California Community College Chancellors Office, 2014). The college-level is also used in the capstone.

Completion: The rate at which students who begin higher education at a given point in time continue in higher education and eventually complete their degree, regardless of where they do so (Goldrich-Rab et al., 2016; Tinto, 2012).

Educational goals: Statements that describe the competences, skills, and attributes that students should possess upon completion of a course or program. Goals often operate within the interacting domains of knowledge, skills, and attitudes (You, 2018).

First-year progress: Student learning and retention during the first year. The first year of college is a crucial period in student learning and retention; therefore, investing in learning during this time will likely yield a great return in retention (Kim, 2015).

First-generation college student: A student for whom no parent or guardian has earned more than a high school diploma or has any college experience (Ives & Castillo-Montoya, 2020).

First-time students: Students who take credit or noncredit courses in the community college for the first time (California Community College Chancellors Office, 2014).

Graduation: The rate at which an institution retains and graduate students who first enter the institution as a freshman at a given point in time (Barbera et al., 2020; Tinto, 2012).

Males of color/Persons of color: A phrase that is used to identify students who are members of racial/ethnic groups that have been historically underrepresented and underserved in the U.S. educational system and socially defined as minorities who are

most likely to become targets of oppression, prejudice, stereotyping, and discrimination regardless of numerical status and distribution (Rendon, 2006).

Overall: Students who attempted the only level of Math or English available to them. (California Community College Chancellors Office, 2014).

Persistence: A term for students who reenroll from one semester to the next prior to obtaining a degree; the term refers to the rate at which students who begin higher education at a given point in time continue in higher education and eventually complete their degree, regardless of where they do so (Tinto, 2012).

Persistence rate: The percentage of degree-, certificate-, and/or transfer-seeking students starting for the first time in 2007-2008 who enrolled in the first three consecutive terms; officials tracked the rate for 6 years through 2012-2013 (California Community College Chancellors Office, 2014).

Retention: A term that refers to program completion at the community college level or staying in school until completion of the degree (Barbera et al., 2020).

Retention rate: The percentage of students who remain enrolled through the end of a course out of all students enrolled on the census date. The retention rate also includes the percentage of students who did not drop late or withdraw (National Student Clearinghouse Research Center, 2019).

30 units: A term used to track students over a 6-year period starting in 2012-2013 and continuing through 2017-2018 (California Community College Chancellors Office, 2019).

Unprepared for college: student's lowest course attempted in math and/or English was remedial level (California Community College Chancellors Office, 2014).

Significance of the Study

The significance of this study lies in the insights it provides about goal setting and self-efficacy strategies among male community college students of color. Specifically, I sought to determine whether men of color at the target community college have high goals and self-efficacy strategies already in place or whether they receive application guidance in setting high goals and developing self-efficacy strategies once they are in the admissions/enrollment process or during the first year. In conducting this study, I wanted to further knowledge on academic goal setting and strategy formation, both of which are known factors in college student persistence but have not been studied as much as other factors (CITE). Intensive examination of these two factors can help provide a basis for further studies of this nature. This study allowed participating men of color to give feedback on what they viewed as important to their persistence in the admissions process.

Self-efficacy furthers students' self-confidence; the more confidence students have, the more likely they are to fulfill their stated goals and intentions (Carpi et al., 2017; Klassen & Lynch, 2007; Parsons et al., 2011). As more students persist, college leaders have more funding available to them that can be used to strengthen programs (Stuart et al., 2014). Thus, the increase in course completion leads to increase in degree completions, subsequently leading to increased employment opportunities and increased income. Increased income opens the door to other benefits. The more programs supported lead to advanced skill levels for the local community.

Research Question

The objective of the overall research question (RQ) is to determine if men of color at the community college have high goals and self-efficacy strategies already in place or whether they receive application guidance in setting high goals and developing self-efficacy strategies once they are in the admissions/enrollment process, or during the first year. I interviewed eight men of color who may or may not have completed first-year courses to determine whether academic goal setting and academic advising as part of the application process, as well as admission advising and mentoring, made a difference in persistence during the first year of college. The overall RQ and sub questions were as follows:

RQ How do men of color describe their academic goals and form strategies to accomplish those goals during the first year?

- a. How do men of color at the research site describe speaking with an admissions officer about academic goal?
- b. How do men of color describe setting academic goals at the research site?
- c. How do men of color describe speaking with an academic advisor about academic goals?
- d. How do men of color describe speaking with an internal/external mentor about academic goals?

The RQs were aligned with the conceptual framework of the theory of self-efficacy to help understand whether students who set goals typically work to fulfill those goals through tasks.

Review of the Literature

I based the project study on findings from the literature review. The first section of the literature review includes the conceptual framework underlying this project. In the second section, I cover the broader issues associated with men of color and the admissions process. The issues include academic advising, academic goal setting, mentoring, persistence factors associated with men of color, and first-year persistence.

I used education, psychology, and multidisciplinary databases to find resources for the literature review. These included ERIC, Sage, ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global, and the Education Research Complete. Next, I searched for dissertations and theses published from 2010 to 2019. I also searched textbooks related to theory, community college, and men of color. ERIC, Google Scholar, and Educational Research were searched along with multidisciplinary databases such as Walden University Library's Thoreau Multi-Database Search. The search terms I used included *self-efficacy theory, setting academic goals, the admissions process, mentoring, academic advising, persistence, goal setting theory, Black males and the admission process, men of color and admissions, retention at community colleges, persistence at community college, admission officers, and men of color at community college related to persistence.*

Conceptual Framework

The theory of self-efficacy originated with Bandura (1989). Bandura defined self-efficacy as an individual's ability to employ introspective measures in evaluating and managing their competence to successfully actualize desired outcomes. Capara et al. (1992) stated that self-efficacy is a byproduct of social cognitive-learning theory, which

posits that people learn from one another (through observation, imitation, and modeling) observing others' behaviors, attitudes, and the outcomes of those behaviors (Pajares & Schunk, 2001). Therefore, a student's self-efficacy is influenced by learning from others and setting higher goals. Students in an academic environment can benefit from self-efficacy, especially students of color (Foster, 2019; Salvo et al., 2019; Reid, 2013). To be successful, students of color may need to set higher goals and observe the success of current students who would serve as role models.

For the current study, I chose self-efficacy by Bandura as the relevant theory because leaders of U.S. higher education institutions have primarily used self-efficacy as a theoretical mechanism to explain and understand college students' academic performance and persistence (Lee & Zhenxing, 2016). Although researchers use selfefficacy less than other mechanisms it has relative significance related to community college, persistence, and men of color (Foster, 2019; Reid, 2013; Salvo et al., 2019). Research shows that students who lack academic self-efficacy have a hard time persisting at the community college level (Thompson & Verdino, 2019). In discussing self-efficacy, Pajares and Schunk (2001) also spoke of feelings of competence that encourage individuals, especially for those who have struggled in the past, to put forth the effort and persevere when confronting obstacles. This confidence-building is pertinent because the literature available indicates that students of color encounter more challenges than their White counterparts, before and during college (Bui, 2002; Rankin & Reason, 2005). Majer's (2009) definition of self-efficacy is confidence in oneself to accomplish tasks and work toward goals.

The four primary sources of influence, by which a person's self-efficacy is developed and maintained, are (a) performance accomplishments or master experiences, (b) vicarious experiences, (c) verbal or social persuasion, and (d) somatic and emotional states (Bandura, 1989; Pfitzner-Eden, 2016). In each of the primary sources of self-efficacy, men of color may lack confidence when it comes to mastering difficult tasks, which can ultimately affect their motivation to persist at the community college (Caprara et al., 1992). For each source related to self-efficacy, men of color are met with challenges, starting with master experiences.

Experts contend that mastery experiences or personal performance accomplishments build strong self-efficacy. It takes experience to show resilience in overcoming obstacles through effort and perseverance. In seeing others who come from a similar place in life achieve success, an individual is more likely to believe that they can persevere (Bandura, 1989). It can also have an opposite effect if similar others fail despite their best efforts (Bui, 2003; Reid, 2013). Men of color at the community college are more vulnerable to lower academic performance, eventually leading to nonpersistence (Bui, 2002; Reid, 2013). An increase in self-efficacy can lead to higher academic performance and affect persistence positively (You, 2018). Mastery experiences consider that people overcome obstacles by being aware of the people around them and learning from others' experiences vicariously.

Vicarious experiences come from individuals observing others who they see as models or as having something in common with them. Seeing people around oneself have success raises hope that one can also have success (Capara et al., 1992). Men of color at

the community college may have challenges from being part of a lower socioeconomic group and being members of an underrepresented racial group (Bui, 2002; Reid, 2013). If others convey that they believe in them through verbal influence, male students of color may be more resolved to succeed.

Verbal influence may therefore have an influence on men of color at the community college level. Verbal or social persuasion affects one's perception of self-efficacy. It is a way of strengthening people's belief that they have what it takes to succeed (Bandura, 1989). Influential people in their lives, such as parents, managers, or coaches, can increase students' belief that they have what it takes to succeed (Reid, 2013). Academic advising at the community college for students of color will significantly impact persistence, research shows (Hatch & Garcia, 2017; Museus & Ravello, 2010). Being told that they will persevere in a manner that resonates with them could enhance self-efficacy and lead to more significant mobilization. Ultimately, when theoretical questions arise in coursework, students are in a better frame of mind to handle them. The mental state is essential as well in judging capability.

Emotional and somatic states help determine how well community college students perform academically. In this stage, students rely on their somatic or emotional state when judging their capabilities. Stress and tension are seen as "signs of vulnerability" (Capara et al., 1992, p. 7 to the pressure. Three concepts in the process help students access their experiences: (a) locus of control, which is a conception of their power to control their environment and desired outcomes; (b) coping behavior, which refers to their ability to adjust to a new environment; and (c) self-efficacy, which is their

conception of their confidence in academic and social skills (Sonmark & Modin, 2017). Students have an outlet for performing academically through self-efficacy.

A few researchers have used the self-efficacy theory in investigating students of color at community colleges. There is a small body of literature that points to the positive impact self-efficacy has had on the success of students of color at the community college (Majer, 2009; Pajares & Schunk, 2001). Reid (2013) found that self-efficacy benefitted vulnerable groups of students in community college. Because male students of color are a vulnerable group, the use of academic self-efficacy seems pertinent.

Self-efficacy was appropriate to this study because, in the higher education literature, scholars have used this theory to explain and understand college students' academic performance and persistence (Reid, 2013). However, the literature available on students of color at community colleges indicated that they encounter more challenges than their White counterparts, both before and during college (Bui, 2002; Brooms, 2019). One challenge faced by men of color is adapting to the college environment (Brooms, 2014; Dreury & Brooms, 2019). Research shows that students of color are more vulnerable to lower academic performance, leading to nonpersistence (Reid, 2013). It is therefore crucial that administrators have a strategy that will lead to success during the first year and beyond at community college for male students of color.

Review of the Broader Problem

Goals and Strategies for Men of color

A number of factors account for strong academic performance and persistence among male students of color. Goals, behaviors, school performance, and personal beliefs

account for Black mens' success in community college, according to Harris and Wood (2013). Harris and Wood discussed how students' goals (academic, career, education, personal), background (age, high school grade point average [GPA], and academic preparation) and societal norms shape society's perceptions of male students of color. Educational goals are an essential factor in persistence because the more time a student spends studying, the higher the GPA (Wood & Harris, 2015). Students are less likely to miss school frequently as well. Hagedorn et al. (2001) predicted retention for men of color based on six factors: age, high school GPA, confidence in a major, and greater emphasis on finishing college. Spirituality is also a factor in success for men of color (Hagerdorn, 2001; Wood & Harris, 2015). Students who believe in a higher power as having meaning in their life and who attend services were likely to have success in one study (Wood et al., 2014). Educational goals, academic behaviors, and personal beliefs all contribute to the persistence of men of color at community college.

Four strategies identified in the literature as necessary for men of color in persisting to graduation are mentorship, socialization, support, and expectations (Banks & Dohy, 2019; Tolliver & Miller, 2017). The mentoring relationship strategy is essential because it helps develop students' abilities upon entering the college environment given that this is likely their first college experience (Demetriou et al., 2017; Tolliver & Miller, 2017). The goal of a mentoring relationship includes refining a young person's skills, abilities, and understanding (Lavant et al., 1987; Toliver & Miller, 2017; Sáenz et al., 2015). In this study, I found that mentorships are essential in helping with the transitions that take place during college, in addition to ensuring that students stay on the right path

that leads to success (see Demetriou et al., 2017; Tolliver & Miller, 2017). Participants talked about how they met other students through fraternities and other campus organizations. Leaders from these organizations served as role models. They formed formal or informal relationships, whether on-campus or in their neighborhoods (Tolliver & Miller, 2017). These associations led to the development of socialization. Socialization on a college campus is essential in establishing support with students who may not look like oneself. Tolliver and Miller (2017) stated that students' cultural backgrounds and cultural norms on a college campus at times may lead to a feeling of conflict. This competition feeling is especially relevant on a college campus where men of color are not the majority population (Harris et al., 2015). The support can come through on-campus supports.

The on-campus supports strategy encourages interactions with other ethnically diverse students. Students from minority populations may not be as comfortable on campus as the dominant population (Tolliver & Miller, 2017; Whitehead, 2019). Minority populations must be socialized into the new environment through stages, if possible (Tolliver & Miller 2017). Having on-campus supports allow students to meet other students and faculty and to share their perspectives on issues that are happening on campus and around the world.

Another strategy found during the research was the importance for men of color to have family members who went to college. Family members who had gone to college shared their college experiences and provided inspiration and motivation to students. The sharing of stories by attendees about the long-term benefits students would derive from

attending college is beneficial (Tolliver & Miller, 2017; Vasquez et al., 2019). In many cases, family and community provided financial support and guidance to students (Wood et al., 2014; Vasquez et al., 2019). Wood and Williams (2013) pointed out how family obligations could negatively predict Black male persistence because it could cause them to neglect their academic studies. The input of families plays a key part in graduation for men of color as well as strategy. Another challenge for men of color that involves strategy is financial challenges.

It was important for men of color who were undocumented to come up with plans to make money when faced with financial struggles at the college. They employed three strategies to manage financial challenges (Saenz et al., 2018). Strategy 1 involved developing a business plan in which several participants came up with the idea of starting a business to address immediate financial burdens and relieve financial stress (Saenz et al., 2018). Strategy 1 would transfer to another college, and Strategy 3 involved using campus resources to pay for necessary living expenses. A program known as Extended Opportunity Programs & Services provided book vouchers that helped cover books' costs (Soltani et al., 2017). On-campus employment was also an option. Another strategy used at community college involved a diversity initiative.

Men of color at predominantly White institutions have a different challenge that requires communication to overcome. A strategy involving diversity initiatives at the community college involves faculty, staff, administrators, and student leads (Stanley et al., 2019; Torrens et al., 2017). Students interviewed and communicated the impact of a strategy that highlighted vision and commitment to diversity and inclusion at the site

(Stanley et al., 2019). The chief diversity officer worked with campus leaders to support, assist, and empower units to engage and address issues related to diversity (Stanley et al., 2019). The challenge was to integrate diversity goals into formalized plans at a predominantly White institution (2019). Students employed a communication strategy that valued diversity in the learning environment. A diverse learning environment is also crucial in the admissions process.

Admissions Advising for Men of color

In considering the admissions process for this study, I included the policy, the admissions officer, and a learning program that addressed admission requirements.

Unemployment rates are positively associated with college enrollment (Wood & Harris, 2015). The greater the local community's unemployment, the higher the enrollment at community college (Cristobal & Hidrowoh, 2018; Wood & Harris, 2015). Research indicated that college selection is a function of convenience with open-access policies, the campus location, and the ease of support services influencing the decision to enter college (Bennett, 2020). Open-access or open admissions policies enable all who wish to enroll in college and earn a higher education to do so (Bennett, 2020; Cristobal, 2018). Open-access extends access to individuals who lack college-level competency in basic subjects such as math, reading, and writing. (Bastedo et al., 2016).

Men of color need admission policies to prepare for the application process (Bethea, 2016). Bethea (2016) stated that admission officers believe many non-traditional Black students were turned away from college admissions because of incomplete applications. One of the first studies to address the voices of minority admission

professionals highlighted the lack of intentional resources such as college application workshops, structured programs, and conversations about how to represent oneself other than through transcripts (Bethea, 2016). The Education Advisory Board cited that student success concern is a lack of academic preparation, especially in math for 1st-year students (Bethea, 2016). Bethea stated that academic policies must address how to prepare men of color for the admissions process. Admissions professionals play a large part in preparing students for admission policies.

College Admissions Professionals (DCAPS) play an important role in college access because they are put in positions to help transition from K-12 to higher education (Bethea, 2016). DCAPS are specialists who recruit students of color as part of their formal duties. They make college decisions by evaluating students' academic performance and college readiness in assessing the students' sociocultural backgrounds (Bethea, 2016). DCAPs are knowledgeable about college entrance requirements (Bethea, 2016). Being knowledgeable about college policies make DCAPS an essential part of the admissions process.

Based on extensive studies, low income and underrepresented students do not possess adequate knowledge of the college experience, the differences between institutional types, and understanding of the admissions process (Tovar, 2015). Together We Achieve program was created for Black men at the college site to address policy, practice, and research limitations (Baber et al., 2015). The approach promoted equity for men of color. The site used disaggregated institutional data to address outcome inequalities among Black men (Baber et al., 2015). This program was one of many first-

year learning communities with a mission to create an academic environment where students focus on academic achievement, community building, and leadership development (Baber et al., 2015).

A male academic success program is essential to Black male community college students and the institution (Wood et al., 2014). Further research stated that academic engagement involved studying, meeting with faculty, meeting with advisors, and going to the library (Flowers, 2006; Wood & Williams, 2013). The Educational Opportunity Fund (EOF) in New Jersey was an example of a support program that provided advising and support for educational initiatives and leadership activities (Watson & Chen, 2019).

Black male students highlighted the importance of having a comfortable place, something the program provided (Ingram & Coaxum, 2018). Besides, Black male students spoke positively about the special connection they had with the program advisors (Ingram & Coaxum, 2018). They were quick to connect with and follow the lead of advisors in the program. EOF is one program of many that Black male community college students used in the admissions process of college.

Admission programs can improve predictions and reduce error rates in assessing candidates (Covarrubias et al., 2018; Sedlacek, 2017). One way to achieve this is by going beyond traditional measures such as grades and test scores. Sedlacek (2017) stated that admission policies can assess candidates more thoroughly who may have been overlooked by conventional processes. By considering a student's strengths and weaknesses, professionals can personalize a student's plan of action. Using a non-traditional method of assessing students can positively affect men of color in general

(Sedlacek, 2017). Academic advising takes up where admission leaves off in assessing students.

Academic Advising for Men of color

Another component of application guidance is academic advising. It started in the 1970s but took off during the 1990s when its purpose became more than just a professor signing off on a registration form (Thelin, 2011). The reinstituted academic advising included career goals, selecting a study program, and scheduling courses (Thelin, 2011). Academic advisement offers students a chance to discuss goals and other barriers that may impede their success (Thelin, 2011). More importantly, it may save a student who may feel academically overwhelmed and who is about to drop out. Since most first-year students are new to the college environment, advisors should be competent and caring (Thelin, 2011). Academic advisement provides an avenue for students to have success during their first year.

The quality of academic advising and persistence are related, however, there is a deficit of knowledge on the influence of qualitative aspects of academic advising that is problematic (Lee, 2018; Museus & Ravello, 2010). Academic advising is defined as essential to all students, especially men of color, because, in most cases, it will be their first indoctrination into college life (Lee, 2018; Museus & Ravello, 2010). Students are involved in procedure processes i.e., registration, placement, orientation, financial aid, and, academic advising during the first weeks of school (Hatch & Garcia, 2017; King, 1993). King (1993) stated that the structure of academic advising on college campuses ensures students will interact with institutional representatives. This interaction with

institutional representatives is critical because it causes higher student retention (Beal & Noel, 1980). Beal and Noel's (1980) study confirmed that academic advising was ranked by institutional representatives for two and four-year institutions to cause higher retention. For men of color in this study, academic advising could significantly impact first-year success (Hatch & Garcia, 2017). Academic advising in best-case scenarios motivates students of color to achieve academic persistence.

Several motivational factors that examine motivational strategies affecting Black males' persistence to help them succeed academically are in a study. This quote from Garibaldi is noteworthy...more must be done to motivate, encourage, and reinforce more young Black men to perform well in the classroom. While negative peer pressure tends to diminish African American males' propensity to succeed academically, that influence can be reduced, if not eliminated, by verbally and materially rewarding academic achievement in the same way that society acknowledges and even extols athletic performance. When we publicly recognize young African American men's successful academic experiences, we simultaneously raise their self-concept, self-esteem, and academic self-confidence Garibaldi, 1992, p. 7. (Wood et. al., 2014)

Garibaldi asked educators to embrace their role as educators in motivating Black students through external motivators such as praise and encouragement from teachers, family, and community leaders (Wood et al., 2014).

Men of color must receive external support because this support plays a big part in students' success to persist during their first year. Also, Black male students perform

better when they feel valued and affirmed (Williams & Coaxun, 2018). Prior research indicated that family obligations were also strong indicators for academic persistence (Hatch & Garcia, 2018; Saenz et al., 2018). Other participants in the study stated that positive motivation contributed to their academic persistence, including a) career goals; b) proving others(naysayers) wrong; c) creating a better future for oneself and one's family; d) a responsibility to others (family, friend, children) to succeed, including making one's family proud; and student's interest in their course work (Wood et al., 2014). Men of color must have academic validation as well as support that comes through their college counselors.

The role of community counselors as validating agents for men of color helps drive their academic persistence (Xiong et al., 2017). Rendon's theory of validation pointed to in-class agents (e.g., faculty, teaching assistants) and out-of-class agents (e.g., counselors, advisors) as significant influences in guiding students' academic persistence (Xiong et al., 2017). College counselors provide the appropriate framework for men of color to seek different validation forms that contribute to academic persistence. (Xiong et al., 2017). Academic validating includes building self-confidence of men of color and showing them as competent learners. Counselors offers validation through committing to the success of their students (Xiong et al., 2017). They offer faith in the student's ability. A commitment is shown by getting to know students personally and socially. Some counselors also take on the role of mentoring students.

Mentoring for Men of color

Mentoring as a component of application guidance is vital for men of color entering college and proceeding through college. Mentoring provides a way to seek help as students navigate through the college experience (Harris & Wood, 2013; Saenz et al., 2018). Mentoring can be external or internal to the campus environment, and it has different forms (Wendt, 2018; Ponjuan, 2011). Mentoring impacts other student development areas such as critical thinking, self-confidence, and persistence rates (Wendt, 2018). Mentors are essential in various stages of development in students' lives, especially Black male mentoring (Wendt, 2018). Often formal mentoring programs are designed to increase enrollment and retention of minority and other students and increase student satisfaction with the academic experience (Harris & Wood, 2013). Mentoring has a positive effect on the application process for men of color, and it has an impact on persistence (Harris & Wood, 2013).

Research points out that some of the most influential schools for Black male students offer to mentor as part of their program. Students of color benefit from schools that provide a positive open environment and a caring student-adult relationship (Brooms, 2014). Male students of color must hear from instructors and counselors who can relate to their life experiences and speak a language that they understand. Researchers pointed out that Black male youth should be allowed to navigate the classroom environment in a way that will enable them to maintain their self-identity (Harris III et al., 2015; Brooms, 2014, 2017). The relationships between students and teachers are beneficial to student's success, especially Black teachers.

Men of color benefit from male role models, in particular Black teachers.

Therefore, some Black teachers can fulfill the role of 'otherfathers' or other male role models in teaching male students to love themselves and to make a difference in the world (Brown et al., 2018; Bryan et al., 2016). The underperformance of Black male's argument is in response to racism and limits on their educational and economic opportunities (Brooms, 2014; Wright et al., 2016). Harper & Davis (2012) argued that African Americans disengaged from the academic process due to the inequities listed. From the literature presented, over-fathering can play an essential role in developing students' social, emotional, educational, and identity needs (Brooms, 2014; Brown et al., 2018). Other staff members also play a role in mentoring.

Mentoring relationships expand with more mentors who understand the value of mentoring, taking on a new definition (Torren et al., 2017). Researchers defined mentoring as a two-way relationship between a senior member (mentor) who guides a junior member (mentee) through formal and informal professional development. The mentoring experience extends to professional, psychical (Torren et al., 2017; Davidson & Wilson, 2013) political (Sorcinelli & Yun, 2007) and academic (Ensher & Murphy, 1997) assistance. Creswell (2012) defined phenomenology as it related to men of color as a process that speaks to a phenomenon described by participants in surviving and graduating as open for other men of color. Participants having multiple mentors may have more opportunities to find commonalities with their mentors. Multiple mentoring allows participants to set clear expectations for acquiring skills in the mentor's field of expertise. There is a lack of literature when it comes to the development of male staff members of

color at the community college (Turner et al., 2008). The literature points out that men of color who have access to multiple mentors have a better chance of success during their first college years.

Persistence for Men of color

Each year many students transition from high school to college. Many will attend four-year colleges. However, most Black males will attend community colleges, two-year institutions (Spangler, 2015). Around 54.9% will enroll in public two-year colleges (Saenz et al., 2018; Wood & Harris, 2015; Villareal & Garcia, 2016; U.S. Department of Education, 2004/2009). Within one year of enrolling, 11.5% of Black male students will leave, after three years, 48.9% will leave, and after six years, 81.9% will have left college without receiving a certificate or degree (U.S. Department of Education (NCES), 2006). Harris and Wood (2013) pointed to the sense of belonging as playing a significant part in academic achievement during the first year. Family members, peers, and community roles were also crucial to first-year persistence.

The first-year persistence rates for Black male students at the community college are lower than in other ethnic groups (Wood & Harris, 2015). During the first year, Black males have a 73.6% first-year persistence rate compared to Whites, who had a 74.7% rate, Hispanics had 76.9%, and Asian Americans had the highest at 90.6% (Wood & Harris, 2015; U.S. Dept of Education (NCES), 2006). The Integrated Post-Secondary Education Data System (IPEDS) found that Black males had the lowest graduation rate among all males in every racial/ethnic category, with only 16% graduating in three years. Black males also had the lowest GPA with an average of 2.64; the White male average

was 2.90, Hispanic/Latino males 2.75, and Asian American males 2.84 (Wood & Harris, 2015; U.S. Dept. of Education (NCES), 2006). Research pointed out that men of color, especially Black males, had lower persistence rates during the first year than other ethnic groups at community colleges (Strayhorn, 2017; Villareal & Garcia, 2016).

Latino males also have a low persistence rate and a low graduation rate at community colleges (Wood & Harris, 2015). A national report indicated that Hispanics represent the largest non-White student ethnic group in higher education at 17%, with 52% enrolled in community colleges (National Center for Education Statistics, 2014c). In addressing Latino males in community college, there are three critical areas: a) community college enrollment; b) community college experiences; and c) community college characteristics (Strayhorn, 2017). The factors influencing their attendance are a) family obligations; b) financial aid literacy; c) help-seeking behaviors, and d) non-traditional aged student status. A recent report found that Hispanic families expect males to provide financial support, contribute to daily family activities, and share childrearing responsibilities (Ellerbe et al., 2018; Ponjuan & Hernandez, 2016). Latino students are less likely to complete the Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA) application (Saenz et. al., 2015). All these factors listed lead to a lack of success at community colleges.

Several scholars have questioned why there is a lack of success for men of color at community colleges. The poor results in persistence, graduation, and academic persistence have led scholars to be critical of community colleges (Donaldson et al., 2016; Hatch & Garcia, 2017). Nevarez and Wood (2012) went a step further. They stated

on the dismal success rates, especially related to specific populations groups (e.g., minorities, low-income). Flowers (2006) pointed out that Black men in 4-year colleges are different than Black men in two-year colleges, and that they are likely to benefit from academic and social integration experiences. What are some of the differences between the four-year institution versus the two-year institution?

The characteristics of community colleges are different from four-year institutions. Community colleges have differing governance, faculty qualifications, teaching missions, and open access admissions (Kelchen, 2019; Senie, 2016). Black men in community college are likely older, classified as low income, have dependents (e.g., children), are likely married, and have delayed their higher education enrollment. They also have more inadequate preparation in a foreign language, mathematics, and science than four-year students (Wood & Williams, 2013). Harris and Wood (2013) stated that when students have greater family responsibilities tied to financial support, they were less likely to persist. Students also left college for reasons related to environmental pulls.

What are some of the environment pulls that male of color students encounter at community colleges? Preparedness is listed as a significant deficit when it comes to Black students (Baber & Graham, 2015; Kelchen, 2019; Saenz et al., 2018). Strayhorn (2012) pointed to emotional challenges and threats that limited Black students' opportunities to participate in higher education. The challenges included high incarceration rates, negative stereotypes, and low self-confidence (Brooms, 2019; Strayhorn, 2012). The environmental pulls faced by Black males have affected first-year

persistence. Scholars have made some recommendations to ensure academic persistence for men of color.

There are efforts put forth to address the academic and social needs of Black male college students. Several scholars have recommended establishing peer support and the same race programs that encourage academic and social engagement with the university (Brooms, 2019; Rios-Ellis et al., 2015). Strayhorn (2012) found that low-income Black males were motivated by peer mentoring programs. Research showed that peer mentoring increased minority retention and produced Black male leaders (Zambrano et al., 2015; Budge, 2006). Student-designed programs have the potential of having a positive impact on college persistence and lead to graduation (Hylton, 2019). Peer mentoring and student-designed programs implemented during a student's first year may positively impact Black males' academic persistence. Other college selection factors were essential, as well.

College selection factors are predictors of persistence for men of color that include Black and Latino males. The body of literature on Black males in community college point to social variables (e.g., campus friendships) as having a small negative effect on persistence (Bush & Bush, 2010; Wood & Harris, 2015) while academic factors (e.g., early major identification, study habits, relationships with faculty play a significant role in persistence (Hagedorn et al., 2001; Wood & Harris, 2015; Wood & Turner, 2010). Several factors influence the commitment to attend a college that includes their educational and occupational goals, social class, academic aptitude, and parental support (Wood & Harris, 2015; Wood, 2012). The predictors of success for men of color during their first year have to do with their selection process.

Implications

This qualitative research project based on current data will provide greater insight into perceptions of men of color and their success at the community college. More importantly, the concept of self-efficacy is used as a theory because it emphasizes self-confidence that if students come into the college system believing that they can achieve, the process of taking advantage of resources can become a norm. Bandura (1981) described self-efficacy as a system of developing a plan and following through with goals (Bandura & Schunk, 1981). Men of color entering the community college system for the first time should have a goal or a strategy during the first year. The results of the study have implications for men of color beyond Blacks and Hispanics. Other underserved populations including American Indian, and women of color may benefit from a streamline process that include academic goal setting and a self-efficacy strategy. The research site's application process may lead to positive changes for other groups who may not have had a strategy or goal before entering community college.

Based on how well students strategize and set goals, the results of this study may strengthen the position that men of color have a viable support system during their first year at a two-year college. The admissions officers, academic advisors, and mentors could create positive results for first- year students by starting a streamlined admissions process. If the study results prove that men of color benefit from the application process, they could put a plan in place that would require students to use the application process as part of admissions during their first year. Having a support system in place supports the theory of self-efficacy because it creates confidence in academic progress.

The theory of self-efficacy described in this study may strengthen the narrative around the application process for students of color. If the results of the study show that one section of the application process was more effective in increasing persistence than the other area, a plan may be implemented. The program should place more emphasis on the site that had the most significant impact. The high schools could introduce the project before students enrolled in community colleges. Students who are aware of the information presented before enrolling at the college tend to perform better in college (Bandura, 1982; Bell et al., 2009). There is a need to address some of the strategies used to ensure that men of color succeed at the community college.

Data collected from students is essential to the community and the administration. The collection of data from students could lead to results that may improve policy, and the policy may improve persistence. Therefore, the application process could improve student relationships to the institution, a relationship that has a substantial impact on persistence. Hence, relationships will significantly impact academics, which has a substantial effect on persistence (Cardon, 2015; Tovar, 2015). The data collected results will have far-reaching implications for perception of male students at community colleges. Further, the process may lead to a narrative in the community regarding community college and the effort put forth to ensure success for a marginalized group. The interview results from students will benefit the college as well as similarly situated community colleges.

Summary

The persistence and success rate at community college for men of color is lower than in other ethnic groups. Educational issues that begin in grade school where men of color were discouraged from college have led to needed work to make up the education gap (Harrison, 2018). Based on current findings, there are many factors to consider when addressing persistence during the first year. The selection of goals during the admissions process and the first year and subsequent strategy, mentorship, and academic advising are essential factors in the success of men of color.

In the Literature Review section, I discussed Bandura's theoretical approach on self-efficacy to understand better how male students of color may go through several tasks to complete a goal (Capara et al., 1992). Self-efficacy is important because it gives confidence to students faced with challenges (Bandura & Schunk 1981; Pedota, 2015). In this study, men of color face society challenges; therefore, it is essential to change the narrative—the narrative changes when men of color achieve higher graduation and retention rates at the community college.

The research literature points out some possible remedies to retention related to men of color at the community college. The goal-setting strategies point out four themes that male students of color may use to ensure success during the first year. They include mentorship, socialization, on-campus supports, and family and community expectations mentorship (Tolliver & Miller, 2017). The research on academic advising is beneficial to male students of color because it lays a foundation for navigating through the first year.

Advising and mentoring are essential because of the role modeling plays in students' lives in a college environment. The relationships established with teachers during mentoring are pivotal to men of color's success during the first year at community college (Kimbark et al., 2017). Therefore, it is important that men of color have a model during their college years to help ensure persistence during the first year and beyond.

Section 2: The Methodology

Qualitative Research Design and Approach

In this study, I examined whether men of color at the target community college have high goals and self-efficacy strategies during enrollment. I wanted to determine whether they receive application guidance in setting high goals and developing self-efficacy strategies once they are in the admissions/enrollment process or during the first year. The primary RQ was, How do men of color describe their academic goals and form strategies to accomplish those goals during the first year? The subquestions centered on the application guidance with admissions officers, academic advisors, and an internal/external mentor. The RQs are qualitative because they seek to understand the importance of academic goal setting and strategies students employ to achieve academic goals during their community college experience.

Qualitative researchers examine different forms of data, such as interview transcripts, photographs, memos, and other official records (Creswell, 2012). For this study, I used a basic qualitative design that relied on interview transcripts to describe the strategies that students at this college take to reach their goals. I asked participating students to share detailed experiences in selecting a goal and whether having a strategy to communicate helped or hindered their success in achieving the program's goal. Data were analyzed inductively where I searched for patterns or themes in the data and developed a generalization from the analysis of those themes. The direction of the research came from spending time with research participants and collecting data from them. The research

picture came together as data were collected. This is known as an inductive qualitative research design.

In a basic qualitative design, persons, organizations, and institutions constitute the case. A researcher using a basic qualitative design seeks to gain understanding and insight into individuals, groups, or situations (Flick, 2018). The process can be captured in more detail and with more precision during the study (Flick, 2018). Merriam (2002) stated that a researcher is interested in the participant's perspective and in how they make meaning of the situation. Data are analyzed inductively for current patterns and themes. Researchers design studies that can test, modify, or develop theories. It was vital to elicit the participants' detailed perspective; therefore, a basic qualitative design seemed to be a better fit for a study of this nature.

A case study design was considered for this study based on several benefits. The benefits of a case study included an opportunity to collect different kinds of data about the case (Merriam, 2009). A case study also helps the reader examine a certain case so that the reader may learn more about the case (Merriam, 2009). I chose a basic qualitative design because the overall purpose of this study was to understand how participants at the research site made sense of their lives and experiences. Although a basic qualitative design and a case study design are similar, the basic qualitative design was a better fit for this study because of the emphasis on individual's experience.

The participant's perspective is essential to the qualitative approach because researchers select participants based on their characteristics and knowledge related to the RQs (Lodico et al., 2010). Therefore, it was essential that I accurately captured the

participating students' perspectives. I focused on asking questions of participants to reveal their experiences and their insights regarding those experiences. In observational case studies, the focus is on a particular organization or some aspect of the organization (Lodico et al., 2010). Therefore, I conducted interviews for this study instead of performing participant observation. I also did so because, although participants shared common traits, they did not form groups.

According to Bogdan and Biklen (2016), in qualitative research, interviews may be used in two ways: to collect data or joined with participant observation, document analysis or other techniques. In conducting the interview, the researcher aims to gather descriptive data in the participant's own words to gain insights into how the participant interprets their world (Bogdam & Biklen, 2006). The researcher informs participants of the purpose of the interview before data are collected. Participants have latitude in going beyond the question's limits, which is known as a guided conversation (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Most questions in this study were open-ended questions so that participants could guide the interview. Structured interviews provide comparable data, though unstructured interviews allow the participant to structure the interview and cover the topic broadly (Bogdam & Biklen, 2006)). Participants in this study spoke freely about the relevant topic.

I used a quantitative study based on persistence data and the effect on this population to guide this study. It was essential to have goals and strategies once enrolled in college. The goal-setting theory proposed by Locke and Latham (2013) stated that students who set goals before college have a better chance of persisting than those who

do not. Thus, if students are provided information regarding academic goal setting prior to enrollment, they may be more likely to follow the goal-setting theory.

Participants

For this study, I chose as participants male students of color who had completed 1 year of community college. I aimed to identify participants who could provide quality data for the data collection process (see Creswell, 2012). Participant characteristics included men of color over 18 years of age who completed their first year of community college. Participants may or may not have persisted beyond the first year. The calculation of the study size was to maximize information and minimize redundancy. Based on prior studies (e.g., Vasileiou et al., 2018), eight to 10 participants appeared to be a reasonable number to conduct this study, which requires depth and breadth.

In a qualitative methodology, the term *population* refers to a group of individuals who have a distinguishing characteristic that sets them apart (Bogdan & Biklen, 2016). The target college had unique characteristics based on the demographics and the location of the college. I drew a target population from this population of students to help ensure that research conducted would reflect the demographics of the area. Eight participants took part in open-ended interviews using their own words in a person-to-person account. This study's type of sampling is known as purposeful sampling because individuals were selected from the student population to represent that population (Lodico et al., 2010). The population at the college for men of color for 2017-2018 was approximately 2,487 out of 4,125 men overall. I chose first-year men of color sampling from this site.

I used purposeful sampling, which is often used in qualitative research, for this project. Researchers using this technique accurately identify and select a sample that yields the most results (Lodico et al., 2010). For this study, I asked male students of color to identify the goals and strategies they used during their first year of college. The type of purposeful sampling used for this study was maximum variation sampling. Researchers using this type of sample seek participants who have different opinions regarding this topic. As applied to this study, maximum variation consisted of choosing students who persisted and students who may not have persisted (see Lodico et al., 2010). Seventy-five male of color students who met the participant requirements were selected as possible participants in the study. The next step was to select a sample from that subpopulation. The selection represented the population from which it was drawn, which is known as random sampling. In random sampling, everyone in the community has a chance of being selected (Lodico et al., 2010). In a simple random sample, the researcher draws a list of names and assign numbers to individuals from that list of names (Lodico et al., 2010). A number is assigned to each individual until everyone on the list has a number. Next, a computer generates a random sampling. Then clusters of numbers randomly generated by the table are assigned. The number selected from the table allows one to pick the person chosen. The chosen numbers are random until the entire sample is selected (Lodico et al., 2010). This method of sampling helps get rid of bias by the researcher.

I shared the purpose of the study with the dean of students at the college research site. Thus, the dean of students provided contact information from the population of men of color who enrolled at the end of the first semester. I selected a random sample of eight

participants from that population, regardless of whether they persisted to the second semester. The announcement that was sent out included an overview of the research, the participant criteria, and informed consent information. The dean of students' representatives sent students a follow-up announcement as part of the plan. Next, an invitation letter was sent via email asking students to participate in an interview that would last up to 30 minutes. I waited one week before sending email reminders to the eight participants selected for the study. Those who chose to participate received an informed consent form that required them to confirm whether they were 18 or over.

Students read and signed an electronic version of the consent form. The email confirmed the date, time, and location of the interview. Participants were provided with a \$20 Starbucks card via email within 10 days of the interview as compensation for their time. I sent a one-to-two-page summary of the results to each participant upon completion of data analysis to assist in member checking the accuracy of responses.

Building a relationship and getting to know participants was a significant part of the work (see Creswell, 2012). I connected with participants via telephone before conducting the interviews. Prior to conducting the interview, participants were informed of the interview's purpose and advised of the confidentiality aspect. I made sure that no participants participating in the study felt pressured to participate. Ethical protection was a priority of the study. Therefore, participation was voluntary, and all participants knew their rights. More importantly, there was no identifying information that displayed participant's real name.

Data Collection

I waited to begin the research until I had obtained approval from Walden's Institutional Review Board (IRB) (Approval # 02-19-21-0358713). Once approved, 75 students received invitations. To ensure a random selection, I chose the first eight students who responded for the project study. Students signed a consent form and sent an email response informing of their intent to participate in the study. The words "I consent" were required from students who choose to participate in the study. At this point, students had an opportunity to ask questions about the research and the interviewing process. Participants were scheduled for a telephone interview once they responded to the invitation to participate in the research email.

The interviews took place over the telephone after consent forms were obtained. Most of the interviews took place during the evening within an agreed-upon time frame. I used a microrecorder to record the telephone conversations. Before each conversation, I sought permission from each participant. None of the participants voiced concerns with having the interview recorded. Participants were informed that they would receive a copy of the interview transcript within a week of the interview. The recorder was positioned next to the cell phone, and it was in speaker mode. There was no one in the room during the interview. The interviews took place in an apartment. Due to the COVID-19 precautions, face-to-face meetings were discouraged per CDC guidelines (CDC, 2020). Participants preferred telephone interviews as opposed to Zoom meetings.

After the interviews were completed, I used the NVivo software program to transcribe the data from the recorder into a readable transcript via a Microsoft Word

document. Additionally, I read each document two to three times to start coding, after which I wrote a summary. Participants were contacted to let them know that the summary of the interview would be sent via email. I followed up with participants via an email or telephone call to verify the accuracy of the summaries. All participants responded via email or telephone regarding the accuracy of the transcripts. Two summaries of interviews were modified based on input from participants.

Establishing the researcher-participant relationship was essential in conducting the qualitative interviews. The expectation was to establish a relationship with each of the participants by sharing personal and professional backgrounds. This information was crucial in establishing trust with each of the participants. Besides, many of my personal experiences involving college were like some of their experiences, and it was necessary to be careful as the observer to avoid researcher bias. Participants shared stories beyond the scope of the research. In addition, they were inquisitive about the why of the research.

It was essential that I listen carefully and not be judgmental. The hope was to explain to participants why I was interested in the data and let them know that the information gathered might help others who come after them. More importantly, it was essential to emphasize confidentiality. Before conducting interviews, participants signed a consent form with a promise of confidentiality. An audio recording was used, but only with participants' permission. After the interview, field notes were typed on a laptop using a word processing program. The field notes are a written account of what I observed during the interview. These notes complemented the interview. They had to be as descriptive as possible to capture the essence of the moment.

The use of field notes in addition to the interview was used as a medium for documentation. During the interview, the notes contained questions and information about the interview. Notes should be recorded immediately or as soon as possible about the interview (Creswell, 2012). Researchers must be careful to estimate the time involved in the observation versus the time condensed to interpret events (Flick, 2018). Field notes and observation require the interviewer to pay careful attention to the recording's timing to ensure accuracy.

I interviewed eight students using open-ended semi-structured questions. An interview is a purposeful conversation between two people where one directs to get info from the other (Flick, 2018; Creswell, 2012). Open-ended semi-structured interviews allow participants to tell their stories in their own words. Most of the interviews lasted no longer than 30 minutes. The interview data's completion was transferred from the recorder to a personal computer to a password-protected file. I transcribed the data and encrypted the files. The data will be kept for five years, and then it will be deleted. In addition, interview transcripts and data analysis are stored on a password-protected laptop.

Data Analysis

It is important when conducting a study of this nature to have a thorough analysis. Flick (2018) stated that using the steps to analyze data will allow for a more thorough analysis. I completed the following steps in analyzing the data. After tape-recording the interviews, data were transcribed using NVivo software. NVivo software captured the entire interview. The next step was to organize the files of the interviews so that there

was an established record. I organized the files and established a record. During this step, anonymity and data protection were essential. The computer software that supports the management of data was an option (Flick, 2018). Flick (2018) stated that using the steps to analyze data would perform a more thorough analysis.

Data can consist of interview transcripts, participant observation field notes, journals, and drawings (Flick, 2018; Ridder, 2014). In this study, the data consisted of information gathered from semi structured interviews. I began transcribing the data after I concluded the interviews. Once the interviews were transcribed, the next step was to analyze the data. According to Bogdan and Biklen (2006), some researchers will choose to pause and reflect on the data. In waiting to analyze the data, the interviewer can make connections and gain insights into the fieldwork.

After data was collected and formatted, notations began. During the note gathering stage, I wrote preliminary words or phrases for codes on the notes. The first comprehensive column contained the data from interview transcripts and field notes. The second column contained preliminary codes and notes, and the third column contained the final codes. I kept the notes in a separate file on the computer.

While writing notes, I reread the data to come up with ideas for the coding. In addition, memos were created that included references to the literature and diagrams to structure and contextualize concepts. Finally, the memo writing included descriptions of the interview setting and circumstances related to the interviewee. The next step was to develop a coding system. According to Bogdan and Biklen (2006), specific theoretical

approaches and academic themes lend themselves to a particular coding scheme. For this study, coding focused on the narrative was employed.

Coding has been defined as labeling and categorizing data as the first step in the analysis (Flick, 2018). Coding was used in this study to label, sort, and compare excerpts of the data. Ridder (2014) stated that a qualitative inquiry code is a word or short phrase that symbolically captures a portion of language based on visual data. Coding is a transitional process between data collection and more extensive data analysis.

For this study, everything collected was coded. Qualitative researchers typically use 30 or 40 codes—the more complex the study, the more code usage (Lodico et al., 2010). I used 12 codes for this study. Next, coded data causes researchers to write detailed descriptions of the study's people, places, and events (2010). This process is known as thick descriptions, where evidence confirms the hypothesis. Codes were sorted into categories and reexamined to ensure that nothing was missing or coded inappropriately. I searched for patterns in the coded data to categorize them. Once the data was grouped, I looked for commonalities, even if the commonness contained differences.

After data were categorized, I searched for themes or concepts that summarized what the categories meant. Lodico et al. (2010) defined themes as recurring issues or concepts that help the researcher focus on the RQs. Therefore, I created four themes to explain specific occurrences within the data and organized ideas that represented the categories. Additionally, themes were created in conjunction with codes to explain further the RQ underlying the study.

I relied on reliability and validity in determining the quality of the data.

Reliability and validity are critical terms in determining the quality of qualitative research (Lodico et al., 2010). In addition field notes are essential as a starting point for reliability (Lodico et al., 2010). According to Bogden and Biklen (2006), writing fieldnotes captures the interview's meaning and context more completely. Therefore, I wrote field notes as close to the interviews as possible to lessen the chance of an imperfect recall, thereby increasing the data's accuracy.

I used a word document to record demographic data about each participant and noted their responses to interview questions. Then, participant's interview files were separated and stored in a private place. In conducting interviews, it was crucial to check the interviewee's statement versus my interpretation and determine where one ended and the other began (see Creswell, 2012). Another way of ensuring validity is through member checks where the interviewee has a chance to agree with the transcript's summary.

I used member checking to determine that participants concurred with the qualitative results from the interview. Member checking was one of the primary validity strategies used to check the findings (Flick, 2018). Participants did not receive copies of transcripts, however I provided a case analysis. In addition I created summaries for all eight interviews and provided them to participants. Moreover, follow-up interview allowed participants to add commentary to the findings. I changed information in two instances based on the follow-up to the interviews. Another way of checking validity was through triangulation.

I used triangulation in this study. Triangulation is another primary strategy used to check the accuracy of qualitative findings (Flick, 2018). Moreover, it is used to conduct interviews, write field notes and observations. Triangulation uses multiple methods or data sources when there is a convergence of information from different sources (Denzin, 2012). Confirming evidence compares other data sources or perspectives of various participants, also known as triangulation (Lodico et al., 2010). In this study, I used interviews, field notes, and interview transcripts to check the accuracy of the findings. Triangulation was appropriate for this study due to interviews and field notes.

Data Analysis Results

In the following section, I describe the data results from the interview questions presented to eight participants. Coding is used to better analyze the data (Gibbs, 2007). I formed codes based on evidence derived from the interview transcripts. Next, I designed a category of codes to find a relationship between the data passages; these categories led to five themes.

The primary analytic strategy for themes is coding, which involves sorting and labeling. A large part of analysis allows the researcher to dissect the data but keep the relations between the parts intact (Corbin & Strauss, 2008). I created 12 codes based on participant interview transcripts and grouped them according to how they related to one another.

Codes

In this section, I described and gave examples of raw data that were clustered together to form the codes. Twelve codes were extracted from the data transcripts. I

defined each of the codes and provided two examples of the raw data to support the relationship to the code. The term *application guidance was used to* describe the enrollment process that included support from the admissions office, academic advising, and mentoring.

The code academic support described how participants felt about the support they received from the staff at the research site. Several participants expressed reservations regarding the lack of support from the research site related to academic guidance. For example, Participant 6, a football player, stated that academic counselors were more interested in his playing football than in his academic pursuits. He stated that he was not encouraged to pursue educational goals. Similarly, Participant 7 felt that the school was more interested in him playing basketball. Although an academic advisor counseled him, the advisor did not advise him on taking suitable classes. In both examples, academic support was not beneficial to the academic pursuits of participants.

The code proactive academic advising described how proactive admissions or academic advising helped participants plan their educational program. However, several participants felt that the school could have done more in helping them prepare academically. For example, Participant 8 acknowledged that an academic counselor sat down with him to plan classes, but the classes were sport related. As a result, he felt that he had to work out his schedule to ensure that he could transfer to a university. Participant 3 also expressed that the classes could have been planned better because he ended up taking classes he did not need to graduate. In both situations, participants shared

that academic advising should have been proactive in advising them of the classes needed to graduate.

Several interviewees discussed financial challenges they encountered during their first semester and how these challenges influenced their academic plans. Most participants in the study had financial obstacles. Participant 5 stated, "Okay, we are not from like an extremely wealthy family. They [other students] could be going to, you know, a four-year starter, but it is just way more expensive." Participant 6, when asked if he was still enrolled in community college, stated that the college had altered his lifestyle. He had to live out of state for a while, and when he tried to reenroll at the college, the college charged him \$3,000 that he could not afford. Participant 2 stated that he had to leave college for a while because he needed to work. Several participants participated in sports while holding down part-time jobs. These financial situations created obstacles to participants persisting during their first year at the college. In addition, the focus was shifted away from creating academic goals and strategies because of "life" issues.

In discussing role models, a typical response among participants was how significant their parents' influence had been on them. Participant 5 stated that the most prominent personality in his life was his dad and that his dad was good at many things. More importantly, it was his dad's advice and encouragement that led to him attending community college in the first place. Some participants felt connected to their high school teachers. For example, Participant 2 responded that his old choir teacher was "cool," that he was an African American who taught African Studies, and that he felt a connection with him. These examples highlight the importance of role models.

Several participants expressed positive support from family. The mention of family impact led to this coding category. For example, Participant 3 shared,

I guess my mom and dad are my biggest mentors. He [dad] told me like this.

"This is how we are going to deal, you know, just having the same family." They were big, and they were big hands up, you know, with guidance.

Several other participants expressed a similar sentiment regarding the impact of family in their pursuit of education. Participant 7 pointed out how his mother had impacted him continuing with his college pursuits. Family support was listed as a code because several participants identified their families as being impactful in their college life.

In this study, most participants expressed that they did not understand the role of a mentor, and only a few were mentor-influenced. For example, Participant 1stated, "I would say I have many mentors coming from Seattle, but not a lot, but two or three people that gave me advice, you know, even beforehand." However, most participants expressed a desire to have a mentor. Participant 3 shared,

Everybody would be better with a mentor, especially people of color, you know, this year we had a couple, we had a class, you know, and it was like mentorship group. I think it set me up to fire me down. I think that the number one thing that black kids need is mentors to help guide us through this environment that we have.

Most participants expressed the same sentiment as Participant 3 regarding mentor influence.

The study results revealed that most of the participants were self-reliant. They took it upon themselves to make changes related to their educational pursuits. A common theme around self-reliance was that most participants felt it was up to them to pave the way for themselves. Participant 7 was vociferous in stating that life is about personal decisions; he used basketball as an analogy to state that no one can make him go out there and play better. He had to go out there and have the will to do better. Participant 3 decided that he was not just going to do school. He asserted that he could balance football, studies, and a full-time job. He spent 5 hours a week relaxing and dedicated more time to homework. Participant 3 shared," I figured this out on my own, but I guess they offer advice, so it was more that I had to figure out my schedule." All participants in this example were motivated to do for themselves, and this made them self-reliant.

The code misdirection was used to show how participants started with a plan or goal, and something happened that changed their focus. Several participants started with an initial plan, but circumstances changed. For example, Participant 6 stated that he went to a counselor to fix his classes because he had many classes coinciding or back-to-back, but the counselor brushed him off. Participant 6 shared that he did not feel supported. He felt that the counselor should have told him which classes he should have taken. Instead, the counselor assigned classes that complemented football, but not academic pursuits.

Similarly, Participant 2 stated that he did not have an academic goal or strategy upon enrollment. First, he intended take some classes, but then he decided to major in business, then he changed his mind again after attending another community college.

Eventually, he started taking classes to learn new things. Misdirection was listed as a

code based on several factors that caused participants to start and end up with a different goal. Several participants were not adequately prepared, based on research results for the college experience, but some were.

Preparation was something that most participants wished they had known.

Participant 6 stated that he had to balance basketball and school, which made him see things differently. He asked himself if he wanted to do this or throw himself in that water because he had basketball as an excuse. Participant 7 response to the preparation question was that he got accepted into all those schools but was not prepared, and he was not well known. He says that he did not know how college was coming out of high school due to how the system is, in a sense, towards boys of color. Thus, preparation was a code worth noting based on several responses.

The code aspiration referred to how motivated participants were to achieve, whether academically or life in general. Research results indicated that most participants in this study had high aspirations. For example, Participant 6 stated that he wanted to go to school, although there was no reason he could list. He says that if he had everything before school, there was no need to take a stand. Participant 7 stated: "I might take a gap year, collect my thoughts, go through life, see what it takes me that way when I go back to school". Aspiration was listed as a code because all participants had something that they aspired to be or do.

The code fortitude referred to participants dealing with adversity and being able to get through it. Fortitude was a common theme throughout this study. For example,

Participant 5 stated that he wanted to come and experience college on his own and start to

learn about college and the system. Participant 1, when asked about a plan involving engineering class, stated that he was not sure, and that was the scary part. However, he was willing to take the risk. Participant 8 had some problems with his classes. He replied that he could not trust too many people, academic advisors, and anybody to watch himself. He goes on to say, "I realized that I wanted to pass this class, and I was going to do everything needed to do to pass and not to have to retake the class, so I got to do so, and I did." Other participants from this study faced adversity that they were able to overcome through fortitude.

Bandura (1988) defined self-efficacy as having a goal and the confidence to complete that goal. Several participants in this study showed self-efficacy. For example, Participant 7 stated that he kept a positive attitude for every class no matter how hard the class. He said that he talked to himself and said that no matter how difficult the class, he would persevere. If there is an obstacle or challenge, he will pass this class regardless. Participant 5 stated that he had never really struggled in school. Some people have different situations, but he held himself accountable as being independent and knowing what he was doing. Participant 5 was not good at math, but he succeeded in math by doing homework over and over to make sure he got it.

The 12 codes derived from the transcripts were based on participant's responses to interview questions. The common theme was that most participants did not create goals and strategies during enrollment because there was no application guidance. However, all participants had a solid determination to succeed regardless of their obstacles during and

after enrollment. Once Codes were formed and grouped, categories were formed based on similarities.

Categories

The evidence for the codes came from the transcripts of participant's interviews. I grouped 12 codes into four categories based on the nature of the codes. The category of codes included codes that matched the category assigned. All four categories of codes were indirectly related to goals and strategies that led to participant's persistence or nonpersistence at the research site. Table 2 lists the codes and coding categories.

Table 2Codes and Associated Categories

Code	Category
Academic support	Absence of admission protocols
Proactive advising	
Financial obstacles	
Role model	Absence of mentoring
Family impact	
Mentor influence	
Self-reliance	Absence of an academic roadmap
Misdirection	
Preparation	
Aspiration	Self-perseverance
Fortitude	
Self-efficacy	

The first category of codes, the absence of admission protocols, refers to the issues in the college system and the absence of support offered as part of the academic matriculation. Academic advising was also crucial because it is part of the college system related to how students matriculate through the system. The code financial obstacles were related to administrative deficiency because it plays a significant role in navigating the

college system. For participants in this study, the absence of admission protocols lead to a lack of student support, creating obstacles for student persistence.

The absence of mentoring, the second category of codes, is based on role models, family impact, and mentor influence. The absence of mentoring has to do with relationships. The first code is related to mentoring because it relates to the role in one's life, whether positive or negative. Next, the family impact is also related because it had to do with influence in pursuing goals. Lastly, mentor influence is a way of providing direction to help in the achievement of a goal. Therefore, all three codes are related to influencing and providing direction to participants.

The third category of codes is the absence of an academic roadmap. The absence of an academic roadmap impeded participant's overall matriculation to the academic environment. Although individuals showed character and inner strength based on the three codes, self-reliance, misdirection, and preparation, they did not have a clear vision of navigating the college environment. Participant's absence of an academic roadmap impeded academic success. Next, misdirection is when one feels that they are not headed in the right direction to ensure success. The last code preparation has to do with being prepared. Participants were adrift of what was necessary to succeed in the college environment.

The last category of codes is self-perseverance. It has to do with how well one perseveres when things are tough. The codes for self-perseverance are aspiration, fortitude, and self-efficacy. Aspiration is the willingness to aspire, fortitude is the willingness to seek out goals, and self-efficacy is related to accomplishing goals

confidently. All three codes help make up self-perseverance because they relate to an individual's willingness to take care of themselves against odds that may not be in their favor. All participants in this study showed great self-perseverance.

The four categories of codes were based on the 12 codes and grouped accordingly. The first category of codes addressed the institutions, and the second category of codes was related to the participants' support or lack of support system. Finally, the last two categories had to do with the character of participants while they were going through the college experience and their mindset during that time.

Discussion of Themes

According to Roberts and Sarangi (2005), theme analysis is a means of seeing, finding relationships, analyzing, systematically analyzing a case, and quantifying qualitative data. The data source for this analysis of themes was from the codes and categories. Thus, the categorization of codes led to the creation of themes (see Table 3).

Table 3

Coding Categories and Themes

Code category	Theme	
Absence of admission protocols	Men of color in the study had a preference for institutional support of academics rather than their athletics	
Absence of mentoring	Men of color in the study had a limited understanding of mentorship	
Absence of admission protocols	For men of color in the study, the admission staff had minimal impact on goals while the academic advising staff had a substantial influence on goals.	
Absence of academic roadmap	Men of color in the study lacked an academic roadmap.	

Theme 1: Preference for Institutional Support of Academics Rather Than Athletics

The absence of an admission protocol theme was formed because it was directly related to the institution's system and its goals and strategies for men of color. The institution included academic advising and admissions processes and procedures. Men of color were looking to persevere through the college system; however, the academic and advising office did not meet the needs of several participants in this study.

Theme 2: Limited Understanding of Mentorship

The absence of mentoring category of codes helped form theme two because it linked how men of color related to mentorship and relationships in general. Men of color either had relationships with parents or, in some cases, with teachers, but they did not have a clear understanding of how a mentor was defined. However, the lack of an understanding of a mentor relationship led to influences other than mentors. For example, men of color in the study families influenced men of color a great deal. Again, however, most participants could not define a mentoring relationship.

Theme 3: Impact of Admissions Versus Academic Advising Staff on Goals

The admissions and academic advising staff are part of the institution system.

They have the liberty to make decisions that affect men of color positively or negatively.

The lack of admission protocol speaks to the success and lack of success of two systems within the institution. Most participants in this study felt that one part of the institutional system had more influence than the other. The lack of communication with the admission staff led to a minimal impact on goals for men of color.

Theme 4: Lack of an Academic Roadmap

In most situations, participants may have had a goal, but they did not have a strategy to complete the goal. In three of the eight situations, academic guidance provided by academic counselors/advisors led to creating strategies. However, the lack of goals and strategies in most situations led to participants in this study's failure to persist beyond the first year. The lack of an academic roadmap category of codes led to the theme that men of color did not have an academic roadmap based on their sheer will to persevere without a clear plan.

Theme 5: Belief in the Self as the Arbiter of Success

The self-perseverance category of codes led to the theme that men of color believed they were the arbiters of their success. Men of color had an attitude toward the institution that they would succeed regardless of any obstacles they had to endure or overcome. They realized that they would prevail and accomplish what they set out to do through their inner strength. Several participants relied on inner strength in moving toward their success.

Discussion of the Results in Terms of the Research Questions

The discussion of men of color related to the description of their academic goals and forming strategies to obtain those goals during the first year to ensure persistence included participants discussing how they planned on getting through the first year of community college. In most cases, the question was directly related to whether they had discussed with an admissions officer, an academic advisor, or an internal/external mentor regarding goals and the strategy to obtain those goals. Four of the eight participants spoke

with an academic officer regarding goals but did not have a clear strategy to persist during the first year. Two of the eight participants spoke with an internal/external mentor regarding goals but did not discuss a clear strategy for persisting beyond the first year. None of the eight participants had a clear definition of what a mentor relationship entailed. The discussion around mentors included informal conversations through a teacher or a parent. Analysis of the interview questions posed to participants yielded the following results (see Table 4).

Table 4Participants' Use of Different Supports

Experience	Frequency
Admissions Office assistance	2/8
Internal/External mentor	3/8
Persistence beyond the first year	4/8
Academic advisor assistance	8/8
Goal and strategies defined	3/8

Discussion of the Results in Terms of the Literature

Goals, behaviors, school performance, and student's personal beliefs lead to Black males' success in community college. (Harris & Wood, 2013). Participants in this study who started with goals and a solid personal belief had more success than those who did not have goals. Educational goals, academic behaviors, and personal beliefs were essential contributions to persistence for men of color at community college. Participants who started with educational goals were more likely to persist beyond the first year. Participants 3, 4, 5, 7, and 8 knew that they wanted to complete their degree when they

enrolled in community college. As a result of their goals, Participants 7 and 8 will transfer to a university or graduate from a community college.

Mentorship identified in the literature is a vital strategy necessary for men of color persisting to graduation (Banks & Dohy, 2019; Tolliver & Miller, 2017). Mentoring is an essential component of the application guidance, vital for men of color entering college and proceeding through college. Mentoring provides a way to seek help as students socialize and navigate the college experience (Harris & Wood, 2013; Saenz et al., 2018). Mentoring can be external or internal to the campus environment, and it has different forms (Wendt, 2018; Ponjuan, 2011). Six of the eight participants in this study did not have a mentor. Participant 7 was the one participant who came close to having a mentor as a mentor is defined. This participant was a member of the First-Year Experience (FYE) program. FYE provides guidance and assistance to students throughout their first year of college. This program acted as a support system for participant 7.

In this study, mentorship as a strategy for persistence was important as well. Of the eight participants in the study, only two of the eight participants had what could be called mentors. Participants 5 and 8 stated that one of their parents was influential in helping them continue their education. Participant 3 was the only participant who seemed to understand what it was to be a mentor because he was a mentor to others. However, participant three did not wholly understand mentorship because he did not have a mentor for himself. In the academic environment, a mentor is someone who not only supports but helps guide the process through experience.

The admissions office is important in the application guidance process. Men of color need admission policies to support them in the application process (Bethea, 2016). Six of eight participants in this study either did not speak to an admissions officer or remember speaking to an admissions officer. Bethea (2016) stated that academic policies must address preparing men of color for the admissions process. Participant 2 stated that the admissions officer looked at his transcripts and tried to point him in the right direction, but he was not interested at the time. Participant 8 also spoke with an admissions officer who looked at his transcripts and tried to point him in the right direction. Other participants in the study do not remember speaking with an admissions officer. Bethea stated that college admission professionals must prepare students for admission policies. Two of the eight participants dropped out of college because of a policy involving out-of-state tuition. The admissions office could have played a role in ensuring that students were aware of the policy.

The reinstituted academic advising included expectations, career goals, selecting a study program, and scheduling courses (Thelin, 2011). In addition, academic advisement offers students a chance to discuss goals and other barriers that may impede their success (Thelin, 2011). All participants in this study remembered meeting with academic advisors or counselors during their enrollment. Participant 3 felt that the academic counselor was not as helpful as he/she should have been in advising him of academic goals. The selection of classes accommodated his athletics as opposed to academics. Participant 8 felt the same way as participant 3 in his assessment of the academic advising office. However, the remaining participants in the study felt that the admissions office had

guided them in the right direction. Specifically, Participant 7 stated that he changed his major several times, and each time he was guided to take the correct courses by the academic advising office.

Men of color, especially Black males, had lower persistence rates during the first year than other ethnic groups at community colleges (Strayhorn, 2017; Villareal & Garcia, 2016). Latino males also drop out of college at a high rate during their first year (Saenz & Ponjuan, 2015; Wood & Harris, 2015). In this study, four of eight participants persisted beyond the first year. Participants 1, 2, and 6 did not persist beyond the first year. Participants 2 and 6 dropped out because of the out-of-state tuition charged. Participant 2 stated that he was unaware of the policy regarding out-of-state tuition. Participant 6 does not blame anyone but states that he would attend a different community college if he had to do it again. Participant 1 realized that he was not interested in general ed classes, and if he went back, it would be to pursue classes that were of benefit to him.

Discussion of the Results in Terms of the Conceptual Framework

According to Bandura, the four primary sources of influence by which a person's self-efficacy is developed and maintained are (a) performance accomplishments or master experiences, (b) vicarious experiences, (c) verbal or social persuasion, and (d) somatic and emotional states (Bandura, 1989). Performance accomplishments or master experiences speak to perceptions that are mastery experiences or personal performance accomplishments that build strong self-efficacy. It takes experience to show resilience in overcoming obstacles through effort and perseverance. Seeing others from a similar place

in life success raises the belief that one can persevere (Bandura, 1989). However, it can also have an opposite effect if others fail despite their best efforts (Bui, 2003; Reid, 2013).

Vicarious experiences come from observing others around that may be seen as models or having something in common. Seeing people around have success raises hope of others success (Capara et al., 1992). For example, men of color at the community college have challenges coming from a lower socioeconomic group and being members of an underrepresented ethnic group (Bui, 2002; Reid, 2013). By others believing in them through verbal influence, their resolve to succeed increases.

Verbal influence has an influence on men of color at the community college level. Verbal or social persuasion affects one's perception of self-efficacy. It is a way of strengthening people's belief that they have what it takes to succeed (Bandura, 1989). Influential people in their lives, such as parents, managers, or coaches, can increase the belief that they have what it takes to succeed (Reid, 2013). Academic advising at the community college for students of color will significantly impact persistence (Hatch & Garcia, 2017; Museus & Ravello, 2010).

Emotional and somatic states help determine how well community college students perform academically. In this stage, students rely on their somatic or emotional state when judging their capabilities. For example, stress and tension are seen as "signs of vulnerability" to pressure (Capara et al., 1992). In addition, three concepts in the process help students access their experiences: a) locus of control, which is a conception of their power to control their environment and desired outcomes; b) coping behavior, which

refers to their ability to adjust to a new environment; and c) self-efficacy, which is the conception their confidence in their academic and social skills (Sonmark & Modin, 2017).

Majer's (2009) definition of self-efficacy is that one's personal belief in accomplishing tasks leads to a goal. Participants in this study expressed a belief in working toward goals once they knew what the goals entailed. Pajares and Schank (2001), speaking on self-efficacy, also spoke of feelings of competence that encouraged individuals to put forth the effort and persevere when confronting obstacles, especially those who have struggled in the past. All participants in this study encountered obstacles once enrolled at the college.

Participant 2 spoke of the situation with Kobe Bryant's death having a significant impact on his decision to take off for a year. He does not blame the college but stated that he will be more focused on taking classes he is interested in upon returning to college.

Participant 1 also stated that he would take classes interesting to him, not necessarily degree classes. Participant 7 expressed a strong motivation to succeed in every class he took, although he did not have the resources to ensure success at community college.

Participants in this study developed self-efficacy through the four primary sources of influence. Several participants told stories of how they had seen others in their circle of friends give up hope because they lacked the will and desire to persevere. Others shared how their family had a significant impact on their will to succeed. It was through a strong desire to pass a class that one participant tested repeatedly. Further, participants received

verbal influences from teachers, parents, and others to persevere to achieve their goals.

Lastly, most participants in this study had obstacles that they had to overcome to succeed.

Evidence of Quality

Established methodologies established trustworthiness that is currently in place (Lietz et al., 2006). First, the Dean at the research site submitted names that led to participant interviews. Next, I listened to tape-recorded data at least three times and wrote summaries for each participant in the study. Finally, codes and themes were refined and verified through the committee with approval to move forward.

I conducted member checking during and after semi-structured interviews to ensure that the data collected was accurate. In addition, I reached out to participants during and after the interviews. Information was changed in two cases to address discrepancies noted by participants adequately. Emails were sent to all participants, followed by phone calls to participants who did not respond via email.

I used participant quotes in this study to understand parts of the data.

Triangulation uses multiple sources in qualitative research to develop a comprehensive understanding of phenomena (Creswell, 2012). Data triangulation was used to verify statements made by participants through interviews conducted. In-Depth Interviews (IDI) elicit rich information about personal experiences and perspectives (Russel et al., 2005). In addition, I took considerable time and effort to transcribe and analyze the results of the interviews.

Discrepant Cases

Discrepant cases are the outliers or unique cases that fall outside the themes of the research. For example, participants 2 and 6 stated that they did not re-enroll at the college under study partly due to the out-of-state tuition that the school tried to charge them. In addition, participants 6 and 8 felt that the school emphasized athletics more than academics. These participants' perceptions fell outside the normal parameters of the study. Thus, these participants perceptions also modified the perception that the admissions office lacked communication regarding policy.

Limitations

The size of the sample size was a limitation. Specifically, the number of participants chosen for the study based on men of color at the college of the study was a concern. According to Creswell (2012), the number of participants varies based on the qualitative research approach used. This study was a basic qualitative design, so two to 10 participants were adequate. The use of triangulation (i.e., interviews, documents, and transcripts) allowed for verification of participant's understanding of the admissions process. However, the vague understanding of mentorship did not complement the data gathered. The use of semi-structured open-ended interview questions allowed participants to speak freely. However, the terms used in the interview questions led to dialogue that lacked clarity.

Interviews were conducted via telephone, so some of the emotions associated with face-to-face interviews were missing. In addition, three of the participants were no longer attending college, so the admissions and academic advising data may lead to

partial data based on self-interest. Hence, the researcher's bias and integrity could limit the data results. Therefore, triangulation should restrict the researcher's bias.

Data collected during this study involved participants who self-reported. One of the drawbacks of self-reported data is credibility. Participants might not have been as truthful in the interviews or have only given information that made them look favorable. Therefore, I attempted to guide participants regarding the topic when participants tended to veer off-topic and express opinions and biases deflected from the subject matter—the analysis of data allowed for a more accurate assessment of participant's input.

Section 3: The Project

Introduction

The purpose of this study was to determine whether men of color create high goals and strategies during enrollment at the community college to ensure that they will persist during and beyond the first year. I conducted the study at a community college. The participants were eight male students of color enrolled during the first year. The study involved those who persisted and those who did not persist beyond the first year. The interview questions focused on participants' perceptions of completing the application form and recollections of whether they spoke with an admissions officer and academic advisors during the admission process. After collecting data regarding the process during enrollment and assessing the gains and missed opportunities, I developed a policy to ensure collaboration with the admissions office and the academic advising office. The policy recommendation, a white paper, aims to ensure that students create goals and strategies to ensure persistence during the first year. The aim is for staff to

ensure that students are familiar with the policies and procedures of the college during enrollment so that they will have the opportunity to make more informed decisions regarding their academic choices. A crucial finding in this study that could make a difference in persistence for some men of color is the importance of mentorship, a finding that is also reflected in the literature (Harris & Wood, 2013). The study results shows that a lack of understanding of mentorship provides an opportunity to strengthen the enrollment process by having the admissions and academic advising office coordinate efforts in addressing mentorship.

For this study, I designed a policy recommendation that addresses creating goals and strategies at the outset of enrollment. In addition, the collaboration between the admissions office and the academic advising office may ensure a seamless process that addresses the gap in practice. Further, the policy recommendation addresses the implementation of a mentoring program. The mentoring program is incorporated into the enrollment process so that men of color understand the importance of mentoring in a college environment and the difference that a mentor can make in creating goals and strategies.

Rationale

Based on the research findings, I decided that a policy recommendation in the form of a white paper was the most appropriate method for addressing the lack of an academic roadmap for men of color. Men of color should receive support in forming goals and strategies in the initial phase of the enrollment process. In addition, the policy also addresses the lack of collaboration between the admission and the advising offices.

Men of color may benefit from having a coordinated program between the two offices that addresses college policies and procedures and makes recommendations. The policy recommendation also suggests clarification of a clear policy on mentorship at the college under study for men of color. In analyzing the data collected for this study, I found that the male students of color in the study did not have a good understanding of admission policies, specifically those that involved tuition. An example of the lack of understanding of school policy was when two students left college and returned, the college attempted to charge them out-of-state tuition. Students were not aware of this admissions policy.

The results of the study showed that few participants could describe their academic goals, but no one could describe academic goals, a strategy to go with the goals, or a time line. All participants showed self-efficacy in that they felt they could achieve their life goals, but only five of eight participants were able to describe academic goals. The objective of the policy is to help participants create timelines to match their fortitude.

The policy recommendation addresses other issues found in this study including the lack of communication with an admissions office. The admissions office has its responsibility to acquaint students with the school admission policies and procedures. For example, two students in this study said they could not reenroll because the school attempted to charge them out-of-state tuition. The policy regarding out-of-state tuition should have been communicated to students. The failure to address this policy led to two students failing to reenroll at the college. Therefore, it is critical to address policy regarding out-of-state tuition during the enrollment process.

In the study, a lack of understanding about mentorship was evident during and after the application guidance process. Coordination between the admissions and academic advising offices could help ensure and facilitate the onboarding of a mentoring program to safeguard increased persistence among men of color. Results of the study indicated that some participants felt that they would have had success if they had a mentor to help them navigate the college experience. The policy recommendation includes an application guidance process so that men of color have the option of mentorship.

Review of the Literature

In the literature review, I addressed themes related to the lack of goals and strategies for men of color and the lack of a policy that addresses what should happen once men of color complete the application process. This process may ensure that once men of color complete the application process, there would be coordination between the admissions office and the academic advising office through a possible streamlined process. In this section, I review the literature for white papers and goal and strategy policies. Last, I address how the search for the present literature review was conducted, including a description of key search words and the electronic search engines used to identify peer-reviewed literature. The literature included in this review was collected using the following search terms individually and in combination: *men of color*, *admissions*, *advising*, *internal/external mentors*, *mentoring*, *community college policies*, *African American males*, *Latinx males*, and *educational equity*. I found journal articles using ERIC, Google Scholar, and EBSCOhost database on Education. The remainder of

this section includes a description of the project, evaluation plan, and project implications.

White Papers

The policy recommendation with detail (white paper) is a recommendation paper meant to address goals and strategies for students once they complete the application form. I chose a white paper for this project because of the need to persuade the intended audience of administrators at the site. White papers help people make decisions (Stelzner, 2017). A white paper is an in-depth report or guide about a specific topic and the problems that surround it (Kolowich, 2014). The white paper educates readers and helps them understand how to solve an issue (Kolowich, 2014). The white paper also serves as a reference for other education institutions of a similar nature.

I proposed a white paper to address the need for men of color to create goals and strategies during enrollment. The white paper is a document that describes a problem and how to solve the problem (Stelzner, 2017). There are four types of white papers: technical white papers tend to be targeted at engineers, business white papers are targeted at decision makers in business, hybrid technical/business are at both influencers and decision makers, and government white papers discuss the implications of policy decisions (Stelzner, 2017). I modeled the business white paper for this study to discuss the implications of the policy implementation targeted at decision makers.

Goal and Strategy Policies

Goal and strategy policies should be facilitated through the admissions and academic advising office. This effort is a coordinated effort by stakeholders. When

students are exposed to academic goals upon entry and during the application process, they will likely incorporate those goals into their programs (Getzel, 2008). Most students in this study said they did not remember speaking to an admissions officer regarding goals or strategies. According to White et al. (1997), students who set goals have a more realistic chance of completing those goals. Goals contributed to self-efficacy, defined as a student's confidence in their ability to accomplish those goals (Card & Luke, 2019). Further, the greater the self-efficacy, the less likely students will fail to persist.

According to Harper and Harris (2012), various groups and national leaders have an agenda to improve policy supporting students from populations with the highest college dropout rate. Three Black and Latino males in this study did not persist during their first year at the community college under study. Further, these participants did not have precollegiate advisement from the admissions office on navigating the college environment. Officials at several institutions around the country have devised initiatives to improve student success and attainment rates targeted explicitly to Black men (Harper and Harris, 2012). One of the ways that students have success at college is through a sense of belonging and feeling that they are welcome at the college (Card & Luke, 2019). The support system for men of color is important to their success in college.

The admissions office is the initial college encounter for men of color enrolling at the college. It may benefit them if they feel a sense of welcomeness during this encounter. The recommendation policy may ensure that male students of color feel a sense of welcomeness during the application guidance process. Mentoring provides a way to seek help as students navigate through the college experience (Harris & Wood, 2013;

Saenz et al., 2018). According to Taylor and Francis (2005), men of color need to have mentors when going through the college experience.

By incorporating a policy recommendation, college officials may be able to help men of color form goals and strategies that increase their access to higher education. Although several think tanks and stakeholders have designed an agenda focused on improving college completion, greater policy emphasis on those with low persistence is still needed. In this study, only two participants remembered speaking to an admissions officer, and no one remembered discussing goals and strategies. The coordination between the admissions, advising, and internal/external mentors can be the pathway to college completion. According to Wood et al., (2015), men of color at community colleges in the United States have been historically underserved and underrepresented. Disparities that include trends in persistence, retention, and transfer for men of color at community college have received little attention (Harris & Woods, 2013). Providing a policy recommendation offers another way of improving retention for men of color.

Project Description

Student persistence continues to be a problem at the community college, especially for men of color, as the results of this study indicated. Four themes evolved from the research results: (a) absence of admission protocols, (b) absence of mentoring, (c) absence of academic roadmap, and (d) self-perseverance. Based on the results, the theory, and current literature, I proposed three recommendations: (1) the creation of a white paper that recommends creating a goals and strategies checkoff form during enrollment; (2) seeking collaboration between admissions, academic advising, and

internal/external mentoring through a checkoff list; and (3) the assignment of a mentor for men of color. The creation of the goals and strategies list and the sign-off form would be the responsibility of admissions. Students would be responsible for obtaining the necessary signatures. The white paper ensures that there is a process for how students matriculate through their first year. Included in the recommendation is a background of the existing policy and possible revisions.

The theoretical framework for this study focused on self-efficacy by Bandana (1986). According to the theory, student's confidence in their ability to succeed in academic efforts and a sense of welcomeness is linked to positive messaging (Card & Wood, 2019). Furthermore, studies indicated that college experiences influence persistence intentions, especially students from traditionally underserved minority groups who face barriers (Museus & Quaye, 2009). Therefore, the initial encounter with admissions and academic advising was more critical in creating a sense of welcomeness. Further, creating a policy recommendation that addressed academic goals and strategies from the outset was a possibility.

The policy recommendation may benefit students by increasing their exposure to the college environment. Since most men of color begin their postsecondary experiences at community colleges, these sites are looked at as a path to improved social and economic inclines (Harris & Wood, 2013). More exposure to faculty and staff at the college improves men of color persisting (2013). This study found that only three of eight participants had mentors, and none of the participants could identify the role of a mentor. Therefore, the policy recommendation would ensure that internal/external mentoring was

defined during enrollment. Policy recommendations ensure that students understood the role of mentoring and its importance to their academic careers.

Policy Recommendations Evidence

The purpose of the present study was to determine if men of color at the community college have high goals and self-efficacy strategies already in place. It also determined whether they received application guidance in setting high goals and developing self-efficacy strategies during the admissions/enrollment process during the first year. The responses to the RQ centering on how men of color described their academic goals and formed strategies to accomplish those goals during the first year indicated some confusion on the participants regarding the question. The following theme related to the first question emerged: men of color did not have an academic roadmap.

In response to whether men of color described their academic goals and formed strategies to accomplish those goals during the first year, most participants responded that they were not asked this question during the admissions process. Wood and Harris (2012) noted that precollege considerations influenced men of color college matriculation to community college. It also helped determine their success. Precollege considerations included student's goals (academic, career, education, and personal). Participants in this study would benefit from the recommendation policy that addresses precollege consideration because the certainty of goals is a factor in persistence that leads to lower absenteeism, higher GPAs, and commitment to a major (Mason, 1998).

This study's result also indicated that most participants did not clearly understand their academic goals or strategies to achieve those goals. The admissions office could

provide a clear definition of how to set academic goals, and they could provide a guide on how to form a strategy to achieve those goals. As noted by (Bush et al. 2009), Harper (2009), Freeman and Huggans (2009), and Ray et al. (2009), the institution has some responsibility and accountability for the success of men of color by being proactive in designing programs, services, and policies that meet student's needs. This action supports the need for policy recommendations with details.

In response to how men of color at the research site described speaking to an admissions officer about academic goals, the study results indicated that only two out of eight participants remember speaking to an admissions officer. The first few weeks at the community college for men of color presented opportunities and drawbacks to getting started on the right foot. Early processes and procedures such as orientation and academic advising are related to student's persistence (Hatch & Garcia, 2017). Therefore, the omission of collaboration with the admissions officer could hurt student's success.

The results of this study indicated that all participants had discussed their academic goals with an academic advisor. Although there are relatively few studies regarding the specific role of advising, student's perception of advising is based on the quality of advising (Elliott & Healey, 2001: Metzner, 1989: Metzner & Bean, 1987). The results of this study indicated that some participants were not satisfied with the quality of advising and had stated that the academic advisor had recommended classes that were not useful to their academic goals. Further, some participants felt that each time they changed majors, they were pointed in the right direction by the academic advisor. King (1993) stated that academic advising was pivotal to mitigating early departure from the

community college. Implementing a policy suggestion could lead to coordination between the admissions office and the advising office to help mitigate early departures by men of color.

Regarding the question of: How do men of color describe setting academic goals at the research site? The study results indicated that men of color did not have a roadmap to academic success in this study. Since most participants in this study were 1st generation college students, they did not have a road map in navigating the initial college exposure. Early college experiences can influence advising and persistence intentions, especially for students who are under-prepared or from underserved minority groups (Museus & Quaye, 2014). The policy recommendation detail would provide options that link admissions, academic advising, and internal/external mentors at the beginning of their college experience to ensure that men of color will set academic goals and create strategies that lead to persistence.

Further results regarding how men of color described speaking with an academic advisor led to mixed results. All participants in this study spoke with an academic advisor regarding academic goals. The quality of advising was the central question due to the lack of a process. Three out of eight participants in this study had transcripts evaluated to determine that they took the courses necessary for their academic goals. There is an interaction between goal setting and goal attainment (Villareal & Garcia, 2016). Further studies have concluded that positive attitudinal changes from a goal-setting exercise can have a lasting impact on students. The implementation of policy recommendations may assure that students go through a goal-setting exercise during the application process to

ensure that they understand the role of the academic advisor and how the setting of goals can impact their persistence.

The question regarding how men of color described speaking with an internal/external mentor led to the following results: men of color in this study did not clearly understand the term mentoring or mentorship. When asked what a mentor is, none of the participants could provide a correct response. One participant stated that they felt that everyone could be a mentor because one can learn from anyone. Another participant stated that he considered his parents as mentors because they encouraged him to continue in college. The implementation of a policy recommendation could make clear what is meant by mentoring or a mentoring relationship.

Mentoring is important for men of color in college. The traditional understanding and definition of mentoring involves a one-on-one relationship with an experienced and trusted individual who encourages, engages, counsels, and guides an often younger or less experienced mentee (Brooms et al., 2021). This study included two participants who stated that they had received advice from their teachers on what classes they should take to reach their academic goals. However, no one in this study received successful mentoring under the expanded definition. The expanded definition of mentoring involved clear intentions, reciprocity, and a clear focus on growth and development (Liou et al., 2016). Successful mentoring for men of color as a strategy may involve formal and informal mentoring.

In this study, participants who reached out to teachers did persist beyond the first year of college. A pattern of studies indicated that Black and Latino males schooling successes that include performance and achievement indicated positive relationships (Brooms et al., 2021). The teacher-student relationships in this study revealed the gains and benefits of their learning experience. Two participants who did not persist indicated that they believed a mentoring relationship would have made a difference. A mentoring program as part of the application guidance process could make a difference in the persistence of men of color at the community college.

One participant in this study indicated that he knew what a mentor was because he was a mentor, and he had served as a mentor for other students. Teacher-student relationships are essential to mentor relationships and so are student-mentor relationships. Researchers have found that reciprocal relationships, as in student-mentoring, create a caring environment that enhances student's sense of self-efficacy to school and educational goals (Brooms et al., 2021). In addition, previous studies indicated that students' co-curricular activities for Black and Latino males supported leadership development and helped students better negotiate higher education to support persistence.

The results of this study also indicated that most of the participants were 1st generation, college students. This study included Latino and Black males. According to research, minority men were more likely to be first-generation college students and did not have the benefit of obtaining knowledge of their parent's college experience (Bray et al., 2019). This study also revealed that most participants had limited knowledge of the college environment or how to navigate complicated financial aid processes. Two participants did not persist because they felt that the college was unfair to charge out-of-state tuition. Implementing a policy recommendation during the application guidance

process could define how out-of-state tuition works to ensure that students understand how to navigate the process. Community colleges are known to be affordable. However, several students faced financial barriers, as stated in the results of this study. Studies indicated that 82% of Black students and 76% of Hispanic students at public two-year institutions had unmet financial needs compared to 66% of White students (Bray, Beer, and Calloway, 2019). Three participants in this study failed to persist primarily because of financial hardships, discontinuing their studies to seek full-time employment.

Elements of the Policy Recommendation

The policy recommendation for men of color at the community college to determine goals and strategies for persistence at the community college based on the results of this study showed that an ongoing theme of this study was the omission of clear academic goals and strategies to attain persistence. The results of this study indicated that all participants had contact with the academic advisor. Academic advising is considered one of the most effective retention strategies, especially in community colleges that typically have less than favorable completion rates (Fink & Jenkins, 2017). Implementing policy recommendations would support the overall effort of robust, effective academic advising on a level necessary to ensure success at the research site. In addition, curricula at community colleges are constantly changing to keep up with the community's needs (King, 2008). The implementation of policy may help ensure that advisors attempt to resolve these challenges.

The policy implementation aims to ensure that men of color are encouraged to create goals and strategies for persistence at the research site. Research shows that

Latinx, Native Americans, and Pacific Islanders do not persist, earn degrees, or transfer at rates equal to Asian and White peers (The Campaign for College Opportunity, 2015a, 2015b 2015c). Further, equity policies focus on achieving equitable educational outcomes for racially minoritized students, specifically African Americans, Latinx, Native Americans, and Pacific Islanders. Implementing policy recommendations (white paper) would help support equity policies in achieving equitable educational outcomes by continually encouraging persistence by men of color.

Student success outcomes are significant challenges facing community colleges (Grubbs, 2020). The results of this study indicated that three out of eight students did not persist beyond the first year, and four students did not plan to transfer to a university after graduation. Some believed that a significant cause of problems with the completion rates had to do with the open admissions process that allowed students to register and start taking classes right away (Scherer & Anson, 2014). The implementation of policy recommendations may help ensure that students are familiar with which classes are necessary to help achieve their academic goals.

Another facet of the goal and strategy policy formation is to create a validation process between the admissions, Academic Advising, and internal/external mentors that internalizes students' intention as they are going through the application process.

Validation serves as an enabling, confirming, and supportive process (Rendon, 1994, p.33). Based on the study conducted, the academic advising office was the only checkpoint regarding goals. Participants in the study do not remember anyone emphasizing academic goal setting or creating strategies based on goals. The

internal/external mentor could also encourage students to create goals and strategies during the enrollment process.

A goal and strategy checklist

Creating a goal and strategy checklist during the admissions process will ensure that the college of study has initial contact with men of color before enrollment. This list would ensure that students had a process for persistence during the first year and beyond. Educational and academic goals contribute to men of color at the community college (Villareal & Garcia, 2016). The checklist would require input from the admissions and academic advising office on creating goals and strategies. A clear definition of goal setting emphasizes why it is essential to persistence and is included in the checklist. It will be up to admissions and academic advising to get buy-in from students. One of the ways to get buy-in is to show statistics that emphasize how the setting of goals makes a difference. Another way to get buy-in is to let students know that this is part of the enrollment process and essential to their success at the college.

The checklist implementation would occur when students meet with the admissions officer or with the academic adviser. The checklist implementation would occur before students taking classes, preferably during the enrollment period after they complete the application. The admissions and academic office would be responsible for administering this checklist to students. Students would have to complete the checklist before taking classes at the college under study.

Sign-off Form between Admissions, Academic Advising, and Internal External Mentor

A sign-off form is a document signed by all the stakeholders. Creating goals and strategies, the collaboration between admissions, advising, and internal/external mentors would ensure that students have verification that they have created goals and strategies. More importantly, having a checkoff form ensures that all stakeholders are involved in the success of students. Students must interface with all three entities during the application process. Students' sign-off forms would ensure the process. The extension of this process helps with establishing a culture at the school of study that fosters persistence. A blueprint given to men of color shows how to navigate community college during their first year.

The sign-off form would be a simple document that would require signatures from admissions representatives, academic advising representatives, and an internal/external mentor. This form would help ensure an enrollment process took place, and students learned goals and strategies creation at the outset of their college experience. The potential barrier to the sign-off form is getting everyone on board with following through with signatures. Three signatures would be required, so this would require collaboration between the student and the three entities.

Presenting the results and recommendations may help the research site make necessary changes to ensure that students create goals and strategies during the enrollment process for persistence. Further, the policy recommendation in the white paper may serve as a reminder to similarly situated colleges.

Internal/External Mentors

The assignment of an internal/external mentor would be an essential part of the school culture. The mentor assignment would ensure that men of color who enter the school of study will have someone to support them throughout their tenure at the school. Mentors are critical to men of color due to the lack of engagement that they experience at the college level (Harris & Wood, 2013). Students and academic advising would decide who would be a mentor and whether mentoring was formal or informal. Often formal mentoring programs are designed to increase enrollment and retention of minority and other students and increase student satisfaction with the academic experience (Harris & Wood, 2013). More importantly, is that students would have a support system in place during their first year.

The internal/external mentoring selection should collaborate between the student, admissions, and academic advising. Once mentors were selected, one of the requirements would be for the student and the mentor to have a sign-off agreement that describes the nature of the relationship. The sign-off form would include the agreement between the mentor and the student. The mentoring relationship must ensure that everyone is in complete agreement with the expectations of the agreement. Barriers to the mentoring relationship could be finding someone to devote time to mentoring. Students would be more responsible for finding someone they trust to support them during their college experience.

Creating a goals and strategy checklist, along with a sign-off from between admissions, academic Advising, and an Internal/External mentor would occur during

student enrollment. Students would be responsible for completing the checklist and making sure that everyone signs off on the sign-off form. This process would be called the application guidance process. The requirement is that all three entities would work together to ensure that this process works seamlessly. Admissions must start the process since students will ideally meet with them after completing the enrollment application. The sign-off form would ensure that students met with all the stakeholders and took the necessary action to complete the application guidance process.

Resources, Existing Supports, and Potential Barriers

Needed resources for disseminating the white paper include administrative support, access to stakeholders, and access to a presentation venue. The use of photocopying the white paper is of minimal expense. Time is one of the significant resources needed due to the changing of the process. Since the process takes place during the enrollment process, a plan for making sure that students are aware of the process would need to happen. Admissions could remind students during enrollment that they will need to sign off on the new forms before taking classes at the college.

Potential barriers to the program are getting buy-in from admissions and academic advising regarding a new process. Another potential barrier is finding suitable mentors for students when they are going through the application guidance process. Since community college has an open admissions policy (Bush & Bush, 2010), creating a new policy regarding admissions could have been pushed back from some stakeholders.

Another barrier is the selection of mentors. Once a mentor is selected, having them complete an agreement between the mentor and student could run into some obstacles.

Lastly, the introduction of a new process can cause concern among stakeholders as well due to change.

Proposal for Implementation and Timetable

Upon approval from Walden, I will set up a meeting with the Dean at the research site and others interested in the study. I will present the white paper and discuss the study. As noted in the white paper, there are issues related to retention among men of color, not only at this college but also at other colleges, so additional presentations are possible. Further, recommendations are not cost prohibitive when effectively implemented.

Roles and Responsibilities of Students and Others

Admissions will provide the goals and strategies list for students to complete.

Admissions and Academic Advising will provide the sign-off form that shows students created goals and strategies. Academic advising will also provide the mentoring agreement to students. Students will be responsible for taking the sign-off form to the entities and getting the necessary sign-offs completed. Academic advising and students will collaborate in the selection of a mentor. The primary responsibility of securing a mentoring relationship agreement falls with the student.

Project Evaluation Plan

The project evaluation plan for this project is a policy recommendation with details. The goals of the policy recommendation are (a) provide insight and understanding of the experiences of eight participants from the college under study regarding goals and strategies and (b) recommend the creation of goals and strategies checkoff list to ensure that students are exposed to goals and strategies during the

application process. Formative evaluation was conducted while the project was underway (Lodico et al., 2010). Data were conducted, and the results of the data are in the appendix. If there were any issues with the data, they were corrected right away, and that is one of the advantages of using formative assessments.

The project's overall goal was to determine if men of color used goals and strategies to persist during the first year. The outcome of the study also indicated there was a lack of a mentoring relationship. The lack of a mentoring relationship led to a failure to persist in some cases. The recommendations provided in the study will help students create goals and strategies and help establish mentoring relationships that ultimately lead to more persistence for men of color.

Project Implications

The policy recommendation recommends a process for improving persistence for men of color during the first year. Initially, the creation of a goals and strategies list helps students in the planning of their academic goals to ensure that they have a plan for how to have success in completing their goals. Ultimately, the creation of goals leads to the successful completion of those goals. Second, the recommendation of a mentoring relationship is essential for men of color who have traditionally lacked a support system at the college. A mentoring relationship also contributes to more engagement for men of color at the community college. Lastly, the policy recommendation for a process known as application guidance lacks at other community colleges, as pointed out by recent research. Collaboration between Admissions and Advising can help catch students who may fall through the cracks. Finally, the recommendation of the sign-off form ensures

that the two entities have connected with the student on some level. The recommendations provided to the college research site are helpful for similarly situated colleges and institutions of higher learning.

The research site is important because existing research shows a link between postsecondary completion and employment in urban areas (Bray, Beer, & Calloway, 2019). Eight men of color between the ages of 18 to 35 were in this study. Out of eight participants, three participants did not persist during the first year of enrollment. More importantly, six out of eight participants did not speak to an admissions officer during the application guidance process.

In 2014, California policymakers passed the Student Equity Plans (SEP) policy to address disparities in the community college system. This plan called for required institutions to develop goals and strategies to address identified inequities and use new resources to realize their plans (Felix & Castro, 2018). The policy recommendation developed in this study falls under the SEP policy because one of the plans calls for addressing inequities facing Black and Latinx students. The study results indicated that Black and Latino men of color faced a barrier to not having adequate admissions office responses. A policy recommendation could ensure that students' first point of contact would be with an admissions officer.

In addition to SEP policy planning is a tool used by higher education to develop a shared vision and make necessary improvements (Felix & Castro, 2018). Policymakers and institutional leaders rely on planning initiatives to address systemic issues affecting higher education, such as racial equity gaps related to persistence. For example, at the

research site, an effort is needed to address the policy regarding collaboration between admissions, advising, and an internal/external mentor. The policy implementation could include a checkoff list between admissions and advising to ensure that participants were informed of the necessity of creating goals and strategies.

Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions

Project Strengths and Limitations

Project Strengths

A key strength of this project was that it is a white paper. I identified the problem, made suggestions on resolving issues, and recommended possible policy changes regarding men of color at the college under study. With the results of the study, I present recommendations in this section that are grounded in theory, based on current literature, and connected to the institution's cultural values. Whether men of color create high goals and strategies is a research topic that has not been explored in great detail, according to my review of the literature, so the policy recommendations appear novel. In addition, they provide a new avenue of study.

Another value of the policy recommendation is that it provides more than one recommendation based on current research. First, the recommendation regarding a mentoring agreement is a possible solution to issues regarding persistence. Men of color must have a support system in higher education because of some of the hardships they have had to endure (Strayhorn, 2017). Second, I suggest having two entities (Admissions and Academic Advising) collaborate with students to be more engaged with their academic goals and strategies. Third, I suggest using a checklist to ensure that there is an interface between students and admissions, academic advising, and an internal/external mentor. Last, I believe that the policy recommendation can be used at other similarly situated community colleges, which is a potential strength.

Project Limitations

The white paper identifies a couple of problems and presents possible solutions, but there is no surety that the recommendations will be accepted or implemented.

Obtaining resources that can be directed to achieving the recommendations and obtaining buy-in from the administrators at the college are not certainties. Another limitation of this study is that there are no studies that I am aware of that have addressed goals and strategies for men of color at the community college during the enrollment process.

Finally, the term application guidance used in this study refers to collaboration between the admissions office, the academic advising office and an internal/external mentor. The three entities are part of the enrollment process. They could be pivotal to emphasizing the creation of goals and strategies for men of color during enrollment.

Another limitation of the project was the sample size. The sample size was small compared to the population of the institution, which makes it difficult to generalize the results of the study at similarly situated institutions. Another limitation of the study was that it was specific to the research site under study and not generalizable to community colleges in general. Finally, I focused on a group of students during a national pandemic under conditions that were less than favorable to this population. Five students persisted beyond the first year, but three students had to leave after the first year due to life issues.

Another limitation was that data collection occurred amid the COVID-19 pandemic. The pandemic made collecting data more challenging because in-person interviews were not possible. The participants in this study were adversely affected by the virus. Moreover, some of the answers regarding academic goals reflected the virus. Some

participants were faced with life-altering situations that affected their attitudes and beliefs regarding the educational process at the college under study.

Recommendations for Alternative Approaches

The problems I addressed in this study involved creating goals and strategies for men of color or the lack of an academic road map. Also, the lack of mentoring led to participants not being sure of which road to pursue their academic goals. The creation of goals and strategies is a way to improve self-efficacy, especially among men of color (Pajares & Schunk, 2001) One alternative approach would be for K-12 education to do a better job of orienting men of color to the college environment. Research shows that the earlier men of color develop self-efficacy, the more likely they are to complete their goals (Pajares & Schunk, 2001). The creation of goals and strategies in coordination with mentoring may improve self-efficacy and improve persistence for men of color.

Another approach is for the college to have a class that students must attend before enrollment at the college under study. This preadmissions class could be a requirement that reviews the college application process and ensures that students are provided with the necessary information to help them navigate the college environment. One of the requirements of this class would be to create academic goals and have a strategy for achieving those goals. In addition, some of the terminology associated with the college environment would be defined to ensure that students had a better understanding of college life.

Scholarship, Project Development and Evaluation, and Leadership and Change

This research project has helped me grow as a life-long learner, scholar, and educator. I worked in a corporate environment for many years before I decided to become an educator. Being a scholar was more inspiring and challenging than anything I had encountered in my professional life. Participating in the doctoral program has helped me grow as an individual and as a scholar and educator. I look forward to using this experience to help others who face similar challenges. In addition, I want to be an inspiration, especially for men of color who have had to overcome adversity in pursuit of their dreams and ambitions.

Scholarship

Scholarship and learning refer to gaining knowledge by studying, which equates to the process I have engaged with since beginning this project study. Graduate-level scholarship requires learning at a higher level well enough to be able to teach others (Mckinley et al., 2021). Students are expected to be critical thinkers, formulate an effective research design, and communicate results in ways that matter (Mckinley et al., 2021). The most challenging part of this project was formulating a practical design. The topic of study was relevant to me as a practitioner because I was a non traditional student. I did not attend college directly after high school. It took me several years to obtain a college degree due to life challenges, some of the same challenges as participants in this study. More importantly, I did not have a goal or a strategy while attending college. My college experience would likely have been more successful with a goal or strategy.

After spending several years collecting quantitative data but not making progress with my proposal, I switched to a basic qualitative research design. The switch to a basic qualitative design garnered approval for my proposal from the IRB; however, it was during the actual research that I was able to see new issues that arose. For example, I understood the difference between the inductive approach, where I uncovered theory as the research progressed, versus the deductive theory, where I started to prove a theory that was already there. In addition, using a basic qualitative approach, collecting data, and conducting semistructured interviews helped me obtain the data needed to answer the RQs.

The policy recommendation provided a vehicle to offer suggestions on improving the application process. The topic is unique because there is not much research, according to my review of the literature, that focuses on the application process that involves creating high goals and strategies for men of color. Writing the literature review for the proposal and the project helped me understand this project's uniqueness and the limited studies involving men of color and the application process. In the white paper, I address the study results and provide recommendations for leaders of the college under study to consider.

Project Development

When I decided to embark on my doctoral journey, I had an idea of which project to study. I knew that there was vast information on persistence related to men of color (Wood & Harris, 2015). I decided to research a college in Southern California. Once I completed all the doctoral coursework, I moved to Northern California and started

working as an educator at a college. Through my experiences of working with young men of color, I understood that the topic chosen was unique. I chose a white paper because it seemed to be the best vehicle to implement a policy change. I have learned a great deal about white papers since embarking on this project. The white paper was a good choice because I could relate theory, current literature, and research results to possible solutions. Learning about white papers gave me insight into how they can be used to change or influence policy. Writing the white paper also helped me clearly and succinctly convey solutions that I had proposed. I am optimistic that the development of the white paper will influence stakeholders to consider policy changes to the enrollment process moving forward.

Leadership and Change

This doctoral project has increased my confidence in being an effective educator and leader for change in the academic environment. I have been involved with education for the past 20 years as a practitioner but not in a leadership capacity. I have learned the importance of conducting research and sharing information that can or may lead to change. Most importantly, I have worked with men of color in the past 10 years. Working with men of color has increased my understanding of issues they face in navigating higher education and society in general.

As I come to complete this project, I realize that educators need to be proactive in sharing information that can lead to positive change for those who come from underserved communities. Leaders must stay current with research conducted in their field of study and the need to be a change agent when change is necessary for the better

good of society. I believe that new ideas and policies should be tried and implemented for better results.

Reflection on Importance of the Work

The persistence of men of color is an ongoing issue at the community college level. Community college leaders have implemented several programs to encourage everyone to attend community college. The percentage of students of color entering higher learning is steadily increasing (Ginder et al., 2015). The college under study is in an urban community, and the persistence rates are lower among men of color than their White counterparts (California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office, 2019). The results of this study support the idea that the creation of goals and strategies helps with persistence. During the collection of research, I learned that the lack of a mentor could contribute to the failure to persist, and more importantly, that mentoring was something that students wanted.

As a life-long learner, I have learned the value of research is in resolving issues related to learning. During my research, I also learned the value of listening to issues and keeping an open mind to solutions that may differ from mine. I was able to apply skills that I had learned in other work areas to help with the rigor of organizing, researching, and drawing conclusions related to this study. In addition, I was excited to learn more about the experiences of men of color at the college research site and how they wanted to make a positive contribution to the research.

Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research

The policy recommendations that evolved from my research revealed a possible solution for men of color on how to improve persistence at the college level. Improving persistence for men of color will benefit society in general. The implications for social change related to men of color will become more pronounced because minority populations in the United States are expected to significantly increase by 2050 (McGlynn, 2011). Obtaining a college degree may level the playing field in terms of economic opportunities. A college degree provides an opportunity for men of color to become better contributors to society (McGlynn, 2011). The results of this study indicated that men of color are determined to be successful.

Self-efficacy has to do with creating goals and believing that one can attain those goals (Bandura & Schunk, 1981). This study showed that all participants in this study had high self-efficacy even in the face of adversity. They believed in themselves and believed that they would achieve success in their academic quests. The research was instrumental in revealing the lack of an academic roadmap for men of color. Therefore, the recommendation that creating goals and strategies during the enrollment process can help provide the academic roadmap to persist and achieve academic success was important.

This project can positively affect social change at the individual, organizational, and societal levels. An essential benefit of this project is the recommendation that academic advising help students select a mentor, whether internal or external. The selection of a mentor during the application process ensures that men of color have a support system as they begin their college experience. Mentoring provides value to the

organization because they help students persist through the first year and beyond. Society benefits when men of color achieve academic success. It translates to a more educated workforce, ensuring that more men of color will enter the workforce. A more educated workforce leads to technological breakthroughs that benefit the country overall.

The results of this study can serve as a model for other similarly situated community colleges. The issue with persistence for men of color is a nationwide problem. More research is being conducted to develop a solution to the persistence issue for men of color. The literature suggests that more resources are directed toward minority groups that include men of color to increase persistence. The creation of goals and strategies during enrollment is an option to help resolve some of the issues associated with persistence.

Conclusion

In this study, my goal was to determine whether men of color created high goals and strategies for persistence during the first year at the college under study. I was not sure of where the research would take me once I embarked on the study. There were some challenges in getting participants to agree to an interview. I was familiar with the demographics of the research site but not sure of the determination of students to pursue academic goals. The study and data analysis resulted in a recommendation policy that generated four categories of themes. The category of themes was categorized as absence of admission protocols, absence of mentoring, absence of academic roadmap, and self-perseverance. Absence of mentoring and absence of admission protocol category of themes were barriers to creating goals and strategies, while self-perseverance and absence

of an academic roadmap supported and detracted from the overall goal of persistence beyond the first year.

Based upon the themes, I made three recommendations that included: (a) creating goals and strategy checklist; (b) creating a sign-off form that verifies collaboration between admissions and academic advising; and (c) create a mentoring form to ensure that students have an internal/external mentor as part of their program. These recommendations would take place before students enrolled at the college. This process, known as application guidance, would ensure that students had a process for persistence during the first year.

Completing this project has been an ongoing challenge personally and professionally. I have had several obstacles that extended the expected time it would have taken to complete this project. However, I have gained a better understanding of how the community college system works and how it affects the self-efficacy of men of color. The collection of data via the interview process was the most revealing aspect of the study. I was able to gain an understanding and deeper appreciation of some of the struggles that men of color in urban environments deal with daily. I came away from the study enlightened and encouraged by the self-determination of participants involved in the study. Despite going through a pandemic that created hardships, participants in the study were optimistic about the future. I appreciated being able to relate to some of their struggles based on my journey. As a result, I will be more involved as an educator in being the change that I hope to see.

References

- Alexitch, L. R. (2006). Help-seeking and the role of academic advising in high education.

 In S. A. Karbenick & R. S. Newman (Eds.), *Help-seeking in an academic setting:*Goals, groups, and concepts (pp. 175–202). Erlbaum.
- American Association of Community Colleges. (2014). *About community colleges: 21st-century initiative.*
 - http://www.aacc.nche.edu/AboutCC/21st_century/Pages/default.aspx
- Astin, A. (2012). *College student retention: Formula for student success*. Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Baber, L., Fletcher, R., & Graham, E. (2015). Black men attending community colleges:

 Examining an institutional approach toward equity. *New Directions for*Community Colleges, 2015(172), 97–107. https://doi.org/10.1002/cc.20167
- Bandura, A., & Schunk, D. H. (1981). Cultivating competence, self-efficacy, and intrinsic interest through proximal self-motivation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 41(3), 586–598. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.41.3.586
- Bandura, A. (1989). Regulation of cognitive processes through perceived self-efficacy. *Developmental Psychology*, 25(5), 729–735. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.25.5.729
- Banks, T., & Dohy, J. (2019). Mitigating barriers to persistence: A review of efforts to improve retention and graduation rates for students of color in higher education. Higher Education Studies, 9(1), 118-131. https://doi.org/10.5539/hes.v9n1p118
- Barbera, S. A., Berkshire, S. D., Boronat, C. B., & Kennedy, M. H. (2020). Review of

- undergraduate student retention and graduation since 2010: Patterns, predictions, and recommendations for 2020. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice*, 22(2), 227–250. https://doi.org/10.1177/1521025117738233
- Bastedo, M., Atbach, P., & Gumport, P. (2016). *American higher education in the 21st century*. Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Beal, P. E., & Noel, L. (1980). What works in student retention? The report of a joint project of the American College Testing Program and the National Center for Higher Education Management Systems. American College Testing Program and National Center for Higher Education Management.
- Bean, J., & Metzner, B. (1985). A conceptual model of nontraditional undergraduate student attrition. *Review of Educational Research*, 55(4), 485-540. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543055004485
- Bell, A. D., Rowan-Kenyon, H. T., & Perna, L. W. (2009). College knowledge of 9th and 11th grade students: Variation by school and state context. *Journal of Higher Education*, 80(6), 663–685. https://doi.org/10.1353/jhe.0.0074
- Bennett, C. L. F. (2020). Retention and success rates among African American males enrolled in community college: Factors that affect their academic success (Publication No. 27964496) [Doctoral dissertation, Gwynedd Mercy University]. ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global.
- Bethea, K. A. (2016). College prep and access from the perspective of diversity college admissions professionals. *College and University*, *91*(3), 2-11.
- Birmingham, P & Wilkinson, D. (2003). Using research instruments. A guide for

- researchers. Taylor and Francis Group.
- Bogdan, R.C., & Biklen, S.K. (2006). *Qualitative research for education: An introduction to theories and methods* (5th ed.). Pearson.
- Bowen, W. G., Kurzweil, M. A., Tobin, E. M., & Pichler, S. C. (2006). *Equity and excellence in American higher education*. University of Virginia Press.
- Bowen, W.G., & Bok D. (2016). The shape of the river: Long-term consequences of considering race in college and university admissions. Princeton University Press.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*(2), 77–101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Bray, J., Beer, A., & Calloway, M. (2019). The rural male in higher education. How community colleges can improve educational outcomes for rural men. Association of Community College Trustees.

 https://www.acct.org/files/Publications/2019/ACCT8105%20(Rural%20Male%20Report)v7.pdf
- Brooms, D. R. (2014). Mapping pathways to affirmative identities among black males:

 Instilling the importance of education in K-12 and college classrooms: *Journal of African American Males in Education*, *5*(2), 196-214.

 <a href="https://jaamejournal.scholasticahq.com/article/18455-mapping-pathways-to-affirmative-identities-among-black-males-instilling-the-value-and-importance-of-education-in-k-12-and-college-classrooms
- Brooms, D. R. (2017). Black otherfathering in the educational experiences of Black

- males in a single-sex urban high school. *Teachers College Record*, 119(11), Article No. 21968. http://www.tcrecord.org/Content.asp?ContentId=21968
- Brooms, D. R. (2019). "I was just trying to make it": Examining urban black males' sense of belonging, schooling experiences, and academic success. *Urban Education*, *54*(6), 804–830. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085916648743
- Brooms, D.R., Franklin, W., Clark, J.S. & Smith, M. (2021) 'It's more than just mentoring': critical mentoring lack and Latino males from college to the community, *Race Ethnicity and Education*, 24(2), 210-228. https://doi-org/10.1080/13613324.2018.1538125
- Brown, A. L., Dilworth, M. E., & Brown, K. D. (2018). Understanding the black teacher through metaphor. *The Urban Review*, 50(2), 284-299. http://dx.doi.org./10.1007/s11256-018-0451-3
- Bryan, N., Johnson, L., & Williams, T.M. (2016). Preparing black male and universities (HBCUs). *The Journal of Negro Education*, 85(4), 489-504.
- Budge, S. (2006) Peer mentoring in postsecondary education: *Implications for research* and practice, *Journal of College Reading and Learning*, *37*(1), 71-85. https://doi: 10.1080/10790195.2006.10850194
- Bureau of Labor Statistics (2014). http://www.bls.gov
- Bui, K.V.T. (2002). First-generation college students at a four-year university:

 Background characteristics, reasons for pursuing higher education, and first-year experiences. *College Student Journal*, *36*, 3-11.
- Burt, T. D., Young-Jones, A. D., Yadon, C. A., & Carr, M. T. (2013). The advisor and

- instructor as a dynamic duo: Academic motivation and basic psychological needs. *NACADA Journal*, *33*(2), 44–54.
- Bush, E.C., & Bush, L. (2005) Black male achievement and the community college.

 *Black issues in Higher Education, 22(2), 44.
- California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office (2014).

 http://extranet.cccco.edu/Divisions/TechResearchInfoSys/Research.aspx
- California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office. (2016).

 http://extranet.cccco.edu/Divisions/TechResearchInfoSys/Research.aspx
- California Community Colleges Chancellor's Office. (2019). https://www.opencccapply.net
- Capara, G. V., Pastorelli, C., & Bandura, A. (1992). *Impact of perceived academic self-efficacy on interpersonal and emotional behavior*. Unpublished manuscript, Stanford University, Stanford.
- Cardon, M.S., & Kirk, C.P., (2015). Entrepreneurial passion as mediator of the self-efficacy to persistence relationship. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*. *39*(5), 1027-1050. https://doi:10.1111/etap.12089
- Carpi, A., Ronan, D. M., Falconer, H. M., & Lents, N. H. (2017). Cultivating minority scientists: Undergraduate research increases self-efficacy and career ambitions for underrepresented students in STEM. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *54*(2), 169–194. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.21341
- Casperan, J. & Raaen, F.D., (2014) Novice teachers and how they cope, Teachers and

Teaching, 20:2, 189-211. https://doi:10.1080/13540602.2013.848570

CCC Application, 2019

https://www.cdc.gov

- Chacon, J. A. (2012). The experiences of low-income Latino/a students in the California Community College System at a time of education budget cuts. *Journal of Latino Higher Education*, 12(3), 207-224.
- Covarrubias, R., Gallimore, R., & Okagaki, L. (2018). Lessons learned from the first-year performance of borderline university applicants. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice*, 20(1), 92–115. https://doi.org/10.1177/1521025116651635
- Creswell, J.W. (2009). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. 3rd ed. University of Nebraska-Lincoln.
- Creswell, J.W. (2012). Educational research: planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative Research. (4th ed). Boston Massachusetts.
- Crisp, G. (2010). The Impact of mentoring on the success of community college students.

 The Review of Higher Education, 34(1), 39-60. doi: 10.1353/rhe.2010.0003
- Cristobal, S. Jr. & Hidrowoh, J.R. (2018) Promoting financial literacy and Latino males' success at community colleges: *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 42:5, 330-339. http://doi:10.1080/10668926.2017.1301276
- Corbin, J. & Strauss, A. (2008). Strategies for qualitative data analysis. In basics of qualitative research (3rd ed.). Techniques and procedures for developing grounded theory (pp. 65-86). SAGE Publications, Inc.,

- https://www.doi.org/10.4135/9781452230153
- Davidson, C., Wilson, K. (2013). Reassessing Tinto's concepts of social and academic integration in student retention. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research*, Theory and Practice, 15(3), 329-346. http://doi:10.2190/CS.15.3.b
- D'Amico, M. M. og Dika, S. L. (2013). Using data known at the time of admission to predict first-generation college student success. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory and Practice*, *15*(2), 173-192.
- Deil-Amen, R. (2011). Socio-Academic integrative moments: Rethinking academic and social integration among two-year college students in career-related programs.

 **Journal of Higher Education, 82(1), 54-91.
- Demetriou, C., Meece, J., Eaker-Rich, D., & Powell, C. (2017). The activities, roles, & relationships of successful first-generation college students. *Journal of College Student Development*, 58(1), 19-36.
- Denzin, N. K. (2012). Triangulation 2.0. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 6(2), 80–88. https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689812437186
- Donaldson, P., McKinney, L., Lee, M., & Pino, D. (2016). First-Year community college students' perceptions of and attitudes toward intrusive academic advising. *NACADA Journal*, *36*(1), 30–42. https://doi-org/10.12930/NACADA-15-012
- Druery, J. E., & Brooms, D. R. (2019). "It lit up the campus": Engaging Black males in culturally enriching environments. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, 12(4), 330–340.

- https://doi-org./10.1037/dhe0000087
- Education Advisory Board, (2019). Adult learners: Who they are & what they want from college. (EAB Daily Briefing). https://www.eab.com/dailybriefing/2019/01/08/adult-learners-who-they-are-and-what-they-want.
- Ellerbe, C. Z., Jones, J. B., & Carlson, M. J. (2018). Race/Ethnic differences in nonresident fathers' involvement after a nonmarital birth. *Social Science Quarterly (Wiley-Blackwell)*, 99(3), 1158–1182. https://doi.org/10.1111/ssqu.12482
- Ellis-O'Quinn, A. (2012). An ex post facto study of first-year student orientation as an indicator of student success at a community college. *Inquiry*, *17*(1), 51-57.
- Ensher, E.A., & Murphy, S.E. (1997). Effects of race, gender, perceived similarity, and contact on mentor relationships: *Journal of Vocational Behavior 50*(3), 460-481.
- Estrada, M., Burnett, M., Campbell, A. G., Campbell, P. B., Denetclaw, W. F., Gutiérrez, C. G., . . . Zavala, M. (2016). Improving underrepresented minority student persistence in STEM. *CBE-Life Sciences Education*, *15*(3), es5. doi:10.1187/cbe.16-01-0038
- Felix, E. R., & Castro, M. F. (2018). Planning as strategy for improving Black and Latinx student equity: Lessons from nine California community colleges. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 26(56/57), 1–33. https://doi-org./10.14507/epaa.26.3223
- Foster, K. (2019) "Does leadership & academic coaching paired with small peer group interaction improve black male student academic engagement, self-efficacy and self-esteem?". School of Education Student Capstone Projects. 304.

- https://digitalcommons.hamline.edu/hse_cp/304
- Flick, U. (2018). An introduction to qualitative research. Sage Publications. Thousand Oaks, CA.
- Flowers, L.A. (2006). Effects of attending a two-year institution on African American male's academic and social integration in the first year of college. *Teachers College Record*, 108, 267-286.
- Getzel, E.E. (2008) Addressing the persistence and retention of students with disabilities in higher education: Incorporating key strategies and supports on campus. *Exceptionality*, *16*(4), 207-219. https://doi.org10.1080/09362830802412216
- Ginder, S. A., Kelly-Reid, J. E., Mann, F. B. (2015). Postsecondary institutions and cost of attendance in 2014-15 (NCES 2015-097). National Center for Education Statistics.
- Goldrick-Rab, S. (2010). Challenges and opportunities for improving community college student success. *Review of Educational Research*, 80(3), 437-469.
- Goldrick-Rab, S., Kelchen, R., Harris, D. N., & Benson, J. (2016). Reducing income inequality in educational attainment: Experimental evidence on the impact of financial aid on college completion. *American Journal of Sociology, 12*1(6), 1762–1817. https://doi-org/10.1086/685442
- Greene, T. G., Marti, C., & McClenney, K. (2008). The effort—outcome gap:

 Differences for African American and Hispanic community college students in student engagement and academic achievement. *Journal of Higher Education*,

- 79(5), 513-539.
- Grubbs, S.J. (2020) The American community college: history, policies and issues, *Journal of Educational Administration and History*, *52*:((2), 193-210, http://doi.org/10.1080/00220620.2019.1681385
- Gutiérrez, M. & Tomás, J.M. (2019) The role of perceived autonomy support in predicting university students' academic success mediated by academic self-efficacy and school engagement, *Educational Psychology*, *39* (6), 729-748. https://doi.org/10.1080/01443410.2019.1566519
- Hagedorn, L.S., Maxwell, W., & Hampton, P. (2001). Correlates of retention for African American males in the community college. *Journal of College Student Retention*, (3), 243-263. http://doi.org/10.2190/MJ6A-TFAC-MRPG-XDKL
- Harper, S. R., & Davis III, C. H. F. (2012). They (don't) care about education: A counternarrative on Black male students' responses to inequitable schooling. *Educational Foundations*, 26(1/2), 103–120.
- Harris, F., III, & Wood, J. L. (2013). Student success for men of color in community colleges: A review of published literature and research, 1998–2012. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, 6(3), 174–185. http://doi.org/10.1037/a0034224
- Harris, F., III, & Wood, J. L. (2014). Examining the status of men of color in California community colleges: Recommendations for state policymakers. *Minority Male Community College Collaborative*.
- Harris III, F., Wood, J. L., & Newman, C. (2015). An exploratory investigation of the effect of racial and masculine identity on focus: *An examination of White, Black*,

- *Mexicano, Latino, and Asian Men in community colleges. Culture, Society & Masculinities, 7*(1), 61–72.
- Harrison, M.C. (2018). Engaging African American males in community college: A volume in the contemporary perspectives on access, equity, and achievement.

 University of North Carolina at Charlotte. 145-165.
- Hatch, D.K. & Garcia, C.E. (2017) Academic advising and the persistence intentions of community college students in their 1st weeks in college: *The Review of Higher Education*, 40(3), 353-390.
- Her, P., & Thompson, M. N. (2021). Examining the persistence intentions of college students of color. *Journal of Career Assessment*. https://doi.org/10.1177/10690727211010382
- Honicke, T., & Broadbent, J. (2016). The relation of academic self-efficacy to university student academic performance: A systematic review. *Educational Research**Review, 17, 63-84. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2015.11.002
- Hudley, C. (2009). Academic motivation and achievement of African American youth. InH. Neville, B. Tynes, & S. Utsey (Eds.), *Handbook of African American*psychology (pp. 187-198). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Hylton, D. E. Jr. (2019). The impact of mentoring on the persistence of African American male students at predominately white institutions (PWIs)" (2019). *Education Dissertations and Projects*. 281. https://digitalcommons.gardner-webb.edu/education_etd/281
- Ingram, T.N. & Coaxum, J.III, (2018). Engaging African American males in community

- college: A volume in the contemporary perspectives on access, equity, and achievement. University of North Carolina at Charlotte
- Ives, J., & Castillo-Montoya, M. (2020). First-Generation college students as academic learners: A systematic review. *Review of Educational Research*, 90(2), 139–178. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654319899707
- Jones, K. L. (2020). Broken chains: Non-traditional aged black male experiences in the college admissions process, a study in portraiture (Order No. 27995535).
- Keflezighi, F., Sebahari, L & Wood, J.L. (2016) An analysis of programs serving men of color in the community college: An examination of funding streams, interventions, and objectives. *Research and Practice Assessment*, 11.
- Kelchen, R. (2019). Exploring the relationship between performance-based funding design and underrepresented student enrollment at community colleges.

 Community College Review, 47(4), 382–405.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0091552119865611
- Kim, J. (2015). Predictors of college retention and performance between regular and special admissions. *Journal of Student Affairs Research and Practice*, 52(1), 50-63. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/19496591.2015.995575
- Kimbark, K., Peters, M.L. & Richardson, T. (2017) Effectiveness of the student success course on persistence, retention, academic achievement, and student Engagement. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 41(2), 124-138. http://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2016.1166352
- King, M. C. (1993). Academic advising, retention, and transfer. New Directions for

- Community Colleges, (82), 21–31.
- Klassen, R. M., & Lynch, S. L. (2007). Self-efficacy from the perspective of adolescents with LD and their specialist teachers. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 40(6), 494-507.
 - https://org/login?qurl=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.proquest.com%2Fdocview%2F194220819%3Faccountid%3D14872
- L. Kolowich. (2014, June 27). What is a white paper [Web blog Post].

 http://blog.hubspot.com/marketing/what-is-whitepaperfaqs#sm.0001s1hdkz5age0dvuz2qqf53u2d9
- Kolenovic, Z., Linderman, D., & Karp, M. M. (2013). Improving student outcomes via comprehensive supports: Three-year outcomes from CUNY's accelerated study in associate programs (ASAP). *Community College Review*, 41(4), 271–291.
- LAtimes.com (2015). Higher Learning: Community colleges step up efforts to get students to attend orientation.
- Labormarketinfo.edd.ca.gov (2017)
- LaVant, B., Anderson, J., & Tiggs, J. (1987). Retaining African American men through mentoring initiatives. *New Directions for Student Services*, 80, 43-53.
- Lee, J. A. (2018). Affirmation, support, and advocacy: Critical Race Theory and Academic Advising. *NACADA Journal*, *38*(1), 77–87. https://doi.org/10.12930/NACADA-17-028
- Lee, P. C & Zhenxing, M. (2016) The relation among self-efficacy, learning approaches, and academic performance: an exploratory study, *Journal of Teaching in Travel*

- & Tourism, 16:3, 178-194. https://doi.org/10.1080/15313220.2015.1136581
- Lietz, C. A., Langer, C. L., & Furman, R. (2006). Establishing trustworthiness in qualitative research in social work: Implications from a study regarding spirituality. *Qualitative Social Work*, *5*(4), 441–458.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325006070288
- Liou, D.D., Martinez, A.N. & Rotheram-Fuller, E. (2016) "Don't give up on me": critical mentoring pedagogy for the classroom building students' community cultural wealth, *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 29:((1), 104-129. https://doi.org/10.1080/09518398.2015.1017849
- Locke, E. A., & Latham, G. P. (2013). New developments in goal setting and task performance. Routledge. http://dx.doi.org/10.4324/9780203082744
- Lodico, M, Spaulding, D. & Voegtle, K. (2010) Methods in educational research: From theory to practice. Jossey-Bass: A Wiley Imprint.
- Lynch, M., & Engle, J. (2010a & 2010b). Big gaps, small gaps: Some colleges and universities do better than others in graduating Latino students.

 http://sparkaction.org/resources/38260
- Maguire, A. (2019). Applying to college, college application /tips.

 http://blog.collegevine.com/how-does-a-college-admissions-office-work/
- Majer, J. M. (2009). Self-efficacy and academic success among ethnically diverse first-generation community college students. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, 2(4), 243-250. http://doi:10.1037/a0017852
- McGlynn, A. (2011). Envisioning equity: Educating and graduating low-income first-

- generation and minority college students. Madison, WI: Atwood.
- McKinley, J., Rose, H., & Zhou, S. (2021). Transnational universities and English medium instruction in China: How admissions, language support and language use differ in Chinese universities. *RELC Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1177/00336882211020032
- McShane, S. L., & Von Glinow, M.A. (2005). Organizational behavior: emerging realities for the workplace revolution. McGraw-Hill Irwin, Boston, MA.
- Merriam, S. B. (2009). Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Museus, S. D., & Ravello, J. N. (2010). Characteristics of academic advising that contribute to racial and ethnic minority student success at predominantly white institutions. *NACADA Journal*, *30*(1), 47–58. https://doi.org/0271-9517-30.1.47
- National Center for Education Statistics (NCES). (2005). *Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System*. U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences.
- National Student Clearinghouse Research Center. (2019, July 10). Persistence and retention snapshot report. https://nscresearchcenter.org/snapshotreport35-first-year-persistence-andretention/
- Nevarez, C. & Wood, J.L. (2012) A case study framework for community college leaders: *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, *36*(4,) 310-316. https://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2012.637870
- Obama, B. (2009). Remarks by the President on the American Graduation Initiative.

- https://www.whitehouse.gov/the-press-office/remarks-president- American-graduation-initiative-warren-mi
- O'Gara, L., Hughes, K. L., Karp, M. M. (2010). An exploration of Tinto's integration framework for community college students. *Journal of College Student Retention:**Research, Theory and Practice, 12(1), 69-86. https://doi.org10.2190/CS.12.1.e
- O'Neill S, & Thomson MM. (2013). Supporting academic persistence in low-skilled adult learners. Support for Learning 28(4):162-172. https://doi:10.1111/1467-9604.12038
- McCory, D. M., (2015) Paper adapted from "Psychosocial Factors & the Persistence of Underprepared African American Males," 1-27 Walden University.
- Merriam, S.B. (2002). *Introduction to Qualitative Research*. (1st Edition) Jossey-Bass
- Pajares, F., & Schunk, H.D. (2001). Self-beliefs and school success: Self-efficacy, self-concept, and school achievement. In R. Riding & S. Rayner (Eds.), *Perception* (pp.239-66). London, UK: Ablex.
- Palmer, R.T., Wood, J.L., Arroyo, A. (2015). Toward a model of retention and persistence for Black men at historically black colleges and universities (HBCUs). Spectrum: *A Journal on Black Men, 4*(1), 5-20.
- Paula, L., & Grīnfelde, A. (2018). The role of mentoring in professional socialization of novice teachers. *Problems of Education in the 21st Century*, 76(3), 364-379.
- Parsons, S., Croft, T., & Harrison, M. (2011) Engineering students' self-confidence in mathematics mapped onto Bandura's self-efficacy, Engineering

 Education, 6:1, 52-61. http://doi.org/10.11120/ened.2011.06010052

- Pedota, P.J., (2015) How can student success support teacher self-efficacy and retention? The clearing house: *A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues and Ideas*, 88(2), 54-61. https://doi.org/10.1080/00098655.2014.998600
- Permzadiam, V. & Crede, M. (2015). Do first-year seminars improve college grades and retention? A quantitative review of their overall effectiveness and an examination of moderators of effectiveness. *Review of Educational Research*, 20(10), 1-40.
- Perna, L.W. (2009) Studying college access and choice: A proposed conceptual model. *In Higher Education: Handbook of Theory and Research*, edited by J. C. Smart.

 Netherlands: Springer.
- Pfitzner-Eden, F. (2016). "Why do I feel more confident? Bandura's sources predict preservice teachers' latent changes in teacher self-efficacy. *Frontiers in Psychology*. https://www.frontierskin.org/article/10.3389/fpsysg.2016.01486
- Ponjuán, L., & Hernández, S. (2016). Untapped potential: Improving Latino male's academic success in community colleges. *Journal of Applied Research in the Community College*, 23(2), 1-20.
- Purdie, J. R., Rosser, V. J. (2011). Examining the academic performance and retention of first-year students in living-learning communities and first-year experience courses. *College Student Affairs Journal*. 29(2), 95-112.
- Rankin, S. R., & Reason, R. D. (2005). Differing perceptions: How students of color and white students perceive campus climate for underrepresented groups. *Journal of College Student Development*, 46(1), 43-61.
- Reid, K. W. (2013). Understanding the relationships among racial identity, self-efficacy,

- institutional integration, and academic achievement of black males attending research universities. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 82(1), 75-93.
- Rendon, L. (2006). *Reconceptualizing Success for Underserved Students in Higher Education*. http://hdl.handle.net/10919/89206
- Ridder, H.-G. (2014). Book Review: Qualitative data analysis. A methods sourcebook.

 German Journal of Human Resource Management, 28(4), 485–487.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/239700221402800402
- Rios-Ellis, B., Rascón, M., Galvez, G., Inzunza-Franco, G., Bellamy, L., & Torres, A. (2015). Creating a model of Latino peer education: Weaving cultural capital into the fabric of academic services in an urban university aetting. *Education and Urban Society*, 47(1), 33–55. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124512468006
- Roberts, C., & Sarangi, S. (2005). Theme-oriented discourse analysis of medical encounters. *Medical Education*, 39(6), 632–640. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2929.2005.02171.x
- Roman, M. A. (2007). Community college admission and student retention. *Journal of College Admission*, (194), 18-23.
- Russell, C., Gregory, D., Ploeg, J., DiCenso, A., & Guyatt, G. (2005). Qualitative research. In A. DiCenso, G. Guyatt, & D. Ciliska (Eds.), Evidence-based nursing:

 A guide to clinical practice (pp. 120–136). Elsevier Mosby
- Ryan, R.R. & Deci, E.L. (2000) The darker and brighter sides of human existence: Basic psychological needs as a unifying concept. *Psychological Inquiry*, *11*(4), 319-338. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327965PLI1104_03

- Sáenz, V. B., García-Louis, C., Drake, A. P., & Guida, T. (2018). Leveraging their family capital: How Latino males successfully navigate the community college.

 Community College Review, 46(1), 40–61.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0091552117743567
- Sáenz, V. B., Ponjuan, L., Segovia, J., & Del Real Viramontes, J. (2015). Developing a Latino mentoring program: Project MALES (Mentoring to Achieve Latino Educational Success). *New Directions for Higher Education*, (171), 75–85.
- Salvo, Susan G; Welch, Brett; Shelton, Kaye. African American males learning online:

 Promoting academic achievement in higher education. Online learning, [S.l.], v.
 23, n. 1, mar. 2019. ISSN 2472-5730.
- Sedlacek, W. (2017). Measuring noncognitive variables: Improving admissions and post enrollment services in higher education. Stylus Publishing, LLC.
- Seidman, A. (2012). College student retention: Formula for student success. Westport, CT: ACE/Praeger.
- Senie, K.C. (2016) Implementing transfer and articulation: A case study of community colleges and state universities. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 40(4), 269-284. https://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2015.1038667
- Shaffer, L. S., Zalewski, J. M., & Leveille, J. (2010). The professionalization of academic advising: Where are we in 2010? *NACADA Journal*, 30(1), 66–77.
- Soltani, P., Keeton, R.G. & Hoffman, J.L. (2017) Noncognitive variables and student learning in extended opportunity programs and services (EOPS). *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 41(7) 405-421.

- Sonmark, K., & Modin, B. (2017). The psychosocial work environment in school and students' somatic health complaints: *An analysis of buffering resources*.

 Scandinavian Journal of Public Health, 45(1), 64–72.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1403494816677116
- Sorcinelli, M. D., & Yun, J. (2007). From mentor to mentoring networks: *Mentoring in the New Academy*, 39(6), 58-61.
- Soua Xiong, Cory Allen & J. Luke Wood (2016) The role of community college counselors as validating agents on men of color student success. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 40(6) 558-561. http://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2015.1096222
- Spangler, M.J. & Slate, J.R. (2015) Texas community college graduation and persistence rates as a function of student ethnicity. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 39(8), 741-753. https://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2013.878261
- Stanley, C. A., Watson, K. L., Reyes, J. M., & Varela, K. S. (2019). Organizational change and the chief diversity officer: *A case study of institutionalizing a diversity plan. Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, 12(3), 255–265.
- Stelzner, M. (2017). Writing white papers: How to capture readers and keep them engaged. White Paper Source Publishing.
- Stuart, G. R., Rios-Aguilar, C., & Deil-Amen, R. (2014). "How much economic value does my credential have?": Reformulating Tinto's model to study students' persistence in community colleges. *Community College Review*, 42(4), 327–341. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091552114532519

- Strayhorn, T. L. (2010). When race and gender collide: Social and cultural capital's influence on the academic achievement of African American and Latino males. *Review of Higher Education*, *33*(3), 307-332.
- Strayhorn, T. L. (2017). Factors that influence the persistence and success of Black men in urban public universities. *Urban Education* 52(9), 1106-1128. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085915623347
- Strayhorn, T. (2014). What role does grit play in the academic success of Black male collegians at predominantly white institutions? *Journal of African American Studies*, 18(1), 1–10.
- Thelin, J. R. (2011). A history of American higher education. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Thompson, R., & Parker, S. (2007). The national urban league equality index. In *The*State of Black America 2007: Portrait of the Black male (pp. 17-58). Beckham
- Thompson, K.V. & Verdino, J. (2019). An Exploratory Study of Self-efficacy in Community College Students. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 43(6), 476-479. https://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2018.1504701
- Tinto, V. (2012). Completing college: rethinking institutional action. The University of Chicago Press: Chicago.
- Tinto, V. (2007). The Pell Institute for the study of opportunity in higher education.

 Moving Beyond Access. www.pellinstitute.org.
- Tolliver, D.V.III., & Miller, M.T. (2017) Graduation 101: Critical strategies for African American men college completion. University of Arkansas.

- Torrens, O.D., Salinas, C. Jr. & Floyd, D.L. (2017) Examining the value of mentoring and men of color staff members of a community college, mentoring & tutoring:

 *Partnership in Learning, 25(5), 509-527.

 http://doi.org/10.1080/13611267.2017.1415830
- Tovar, E. (2015). The role of faculty, counselors, and support programs on Latino/a community college students' success and intent to persist. *Community College Review*, *43*(1), 46-71.
- Turner, C. S. V., González, J. C., & Wood, J. L. (2008). Faculty of color in academe: What 20 years of literature tells us. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, 1(3), 139–168.
- U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. (2006).Beginning postsecondary students' longitudinal study, first follow-up (BPS).Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics.
- United States Department of Education, Office of Vocational and Adult Education.

 (2011). Scaling the community college summits: Challenges, solutions, and commitments. United States Department of Education.
- Vasileiou, K., Barnett, J., Thorpe, S., & Young, T. (2018). Characterizing and justifying sample size sufficiency in interview-based studies: Systematic analysis of qualitative health research over a 15-year period. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 18. http://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-018-0594-7
- Vasquez, M.C., Vang, M., Garcia, F., & Harris, F. III (2019). What do i eat? Where do i sleep?: A concern for men of color in community college, *Community College*

- Journal of Research and Practice, 43(4), 295-306. http://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2018.1478340
- Venezia, A., M.W. Kirst, and A.L. Antonio. 2009. Betraying the college dream: How disconnected K-12 and postsecondary education systems undermine student aspirations: U.S. Department of Education.
- Villarreal, M.D. & García, H.A. (2016) Self-Determination and goal aspirations: African American and Latino Males' perceptions of their persistence in community college basic and transfer-level writing courses, *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 40(10), 838-853.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2015.1125314
- Warren A.C., & Bonilla C. (2018). Care and the influence of student adult stakeholder interactions on young Black men's college aspirations. *Multicultural Perspectives* 20(1).
- Watson, A., Chen, R. (2019). Educational opportunity fund program and community college student retention. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory* & *Practice*. 21(3): 384-406. http://doi.org/10.1177/1521025118780329
- Wendt, J.L., 2018. Engaging African American males in community college. *Information Age Publishing*, pp. 95-120.
- Weiss, M. J., Visher, M. G., Weissman, E., Wathington, H. (2015). The impact of learning communities for students in developmental education: A Synthesis of Findings from Randomized Trials at Six Community Colleges. Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis.

- White, K, Hohn, R, & Tollefson, N. (1997) Encouraging elementary students to set realistic goals, *Journal of Research in Childhood Education*, *12*(1), 48-57. http://doi.org/10.1080/02568549709594715
- Whitehead, M.A. (2019) "Where are my people at?": A community cultural wealth analysis of how lesbian, gay, and bisexual community college students of color access community and support. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 43:10-11, 730-742. https://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2019.1600611
- Williams, J. & Coaxun, J. III (2018) Fostering success for Black males at a community college through an educational opportunity fund program. American males in community college. Linden, NJ
- Wood, J. L., & Harris III, F. (2015). The effect of college selection factors on persistence:

 An examination of Black and Latino males in the community college. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice, 16*(4), 511–535.

 https://works.bepress.com/jluke_wood/66/
- Wood, J.L., Hilton, A.A. & Hicks, T. (2014) Motivational Factors for Academic Success: *The National Journal of Urban Education and Policy*, 7(3).
- Wood, J.L., & Newman, C.B. (2017). Predictors of faculty-student engagement for Black men in urban community colleges: An investigation of the community college survey of men. *Urban Education*, 52(9), 1057-1079.
- Wood, J.L. & Turner, C.S. (2010) Black males and the community college: Student perspectives on faculty and academic success. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 35:1-2, 135-151.

- https://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2010.526052
- Wood, J.L., & Williams, R. (2013). Persistence factors for Black males in the community college: An examination of background, academic, social, and environmental variables. *Spectrum: A Journal of Black Men, I*(2), 1-28.
- Wright, C., Maylor, U. & Becker, S. (2016) Young black males: resilience and the use of capital to transform school 'failure'. *Critical Studies in Education*, *57*(1), 21-34. https://doi.org/10.1080/17508487.2016.1117005
- Xiong, C., Allen, C. & Wood, J.L (2017). The role of community counselors as validating agents on men of color student success: *Journal of Research and Practice*, 40(6) 558-561.
- You, J. W. (2018). Testing the three-way interaction effect of academic stress, academic self-efficacy, and task value on persistence in learning among Korean college students. Higher Education, 76(5), 921-935.
- Zambrano, RE., Ray, R., Espino, MM., Castro, C., Douthirt, CB., Eliason, J. "Don't leave us behind". The importance of mentoring for underrepresented minority faculty.

 American Educational Research Journal 52(1) 40-72.

 http://doi.org/10.3102/0002831214563063

Appendix: The Project



Goals and Strategies for Men of color for Persistence at Community College

Owen G DeVance

Executive Summary

One of the main concerns for men of color at the community college is persistence during the first year. Men of color are more likely to begin post-secondary education at the community college (Bush & Bush, 2010; Vasquez, 2019). However, often these institutions have not emphasized goals and strategies for success for the first year and beyond. While researchers have noted that men of color were less likely to complete their goals of certificate, degree, or transfer than their other male counterparts, few, if any, studies have addressed the creation of goals and strategies for men of color about academic success (Wood & Newman, 2017).

This study addressed whether there was the creation of goals and strategies for men of color at a community college in Northern California. The purpose of the paper is to present findings and recommendations related to a doctoral study of eight students, some who persisted beyond the first year and some who did not persist beyond the first year. Guided by Bandura's theory of self-efficacy, RQs focused on whether goals and strategies were influenced by (a) the admissions office, (b) the academic advising office, and (c)by an internal/external mentor. Data analysis revealed four categories of themes:

(a) absence of admission protocols, (b) absence of mentoring, (c) absence of academic roadmap, (d) self-perseverance. These findings, the theoretical concepts, and strategies described in the review of the literature led to the following recommendations for creating a policy recommendation:

• create a goal and strategy checklist

- create a sign-off form that verifies collaboration between admissions and academic advising
- create a mentoring form to ensure that students have an internal/external
 mentor as part of their program

The Problem

According to Wood and Ziong (2017), 15% of Latinos and 17% of African Americans completed their goals in 3 years, while their white male counterpart number was 27%. This study showed that although five of eight students persisted during the first year, they did not complete their academic goals during that time. Only three students started with original academic goals and achieved those goals during the first year.

Only two of eight students remembered speaking with an admissions officer regarding academic goals. According to Strayhorn (2017) point out that there is a need for institutions to take a role in fostering the degree aspirations of Black men. The omission of a conversation regarding goals and strategies in this study led to the possibility of dialogue during enrollment. Participants in this study varied in terms of having goals and strategies, as shown in Table A1.

Table A1

Overview of Participants

Experience	Frequency
Admissions officer assistance	2/8
Internal/External mentor	3/8

Persistence beyond the first year	4/8
Academic advisor assistance	8/8
Goal and strategies defined	3/8

Importance

Men of color must succeed in urban community colleges. Community college is where a sizable majority of low-income, first-generation, and minority students enroll (McGlynn, 2011). Urban community colleges are considered an entry point for men of color, especially African American men (Bush & Bush, 2010). Men of color have a high secondary school dropout rate and poor collegiate academic preparation and performance (Thompson & Parker, 2007). Therefore, community college may be the best hope for those who desire a degree in higher education (Bush & Bush, 2005). The result of this study helps to understand the educational experiences of a group of men of color. Additionally, it makes recommendations for how to increase persistence among men of color. The creation of goals and strategies supports Bandura's theory of self-efficacy that those who set goals are more likely to achieve those goals.

Bandura's Theory of Self-Efficacy

Bandura's theory of self-efficacy informed the study, analysis, and recommendations that went into this paper. Self-efficacy is defined as a judgment about the ability of the self to pursue activities that will achieve a particular goal or level of performance (Hudley, 2009). According to Locke & Latham (2013), those who set goals are more likely to achieve those goals. In addition, research suggests that self-efficacy

can boost student achievement, foster emotional health and well-being, and serve as a valid predictor of motivation and learning (Gutierrez & Tomas, 2019). Bandura (1981) identified four primary sources of self-efficacy (see Table 1).

Table A2Four Major Sources of Self-Efficacy

Name	Definition
Master experiences	It takes experience to show resilience in
	overcoming obstacles through effort and
	perseverance.
Vicarious experiences	Vicarious experiences come from
	observing others around you that you may
	see as models or having something in
	common.
Verbal or Social persuasion	It is a way of strengthening people's belief
	that they have what it takes to succeed.
Somatic and emotional states	Emotional and somatic states help
	determine how well community college
	students perform academically. In this
	stage, students rely on their somatic or
	emotional state when judging their
	capabilities.

Note. I created this table using data from Bandura (1981).

Employing Bandura's self-efficacy for this study was based on research conducted that showed positive results using this theory to help explain and understand college students, especially men of color, academic performance, and persistence at the higher educational level. The literature available on students of color at community colleges indicates that they encounter more challenges than their white counterparts (before and during college) (Bui, 2002; Brooms, 2019). The results of this study were no different when it came to the challenges faced by men of color.

Purpose and Design

The purpose of this project study was to determine whether men of color created goals and strategies during the enrollment process. I used a basic qualitative approach to determine if men of color had dialogue regarding goals and strategies with admissions, academic advising, or with an internal/external mentor during the enrollment process during the first year. Research has determined that those who set goals have a more realistic chance of achieving those goals (Locke & Latham, 2013). Therefore, the RQs for this study were as follows:

RQ: How do men of color describe their academic goals and form strategies to accomplish those goals during the first year?

- a. How do men of color at the research site describe speaking with an admissions officer about academic goals?
- b. How do men of color describe setting academic goals at the research site?
- c. How do men of color describe speaking with an academic advisor about academic goals?

d. How do men of color describe speaking with an internal/external mentor

I conducted semi-structured, one-on-one interviews with eight students from the research site under study. Purposeful and select sampling was used to select eight men of color from a list provided by the college dean. The sampling criteria was that a group of male students may have or may not have persisted during the first year of college during the 2019-2020 session. Seventy-five students were chosen from a sample. All participants provided informed consent before participating in the study. The form shared the voluntary nature of the study, background information, compensation for their time, and contact information. I obtained IRB approval from Walden University and the research site before the study commenced.

Results

I coded the interviews using in vivo values and axial coding. The analysis of the data revealed four themes:

- absence of admission protocols
- absence of mentoring
- absence of an academic roadmap
- self-perseverance

Absence of Admission Protocols

The first theme, absence of admission protocols, is related to research subquestions a and c. This question looks at the systems in place. This theme states that men of color in the study prefer their institution to focus on their academics rather than athletics. Three participants in the study described their experiences with an admissions officer. The common theme was that the college was more interested in them as athletes than as students at the college. Another feature of lack of admission protocols, as related by Participant 6, stated that the institution was not interested in him academically. He believed that they looked at him as someone who could play football.

Absence of admission protocols also had a theme that stated the admissions staff had minimal impact on goals while the academic advising staff substantially influenced goals. There were only two participants out of eight who remembered speaking with an admissions officer during enrollment. Participants two and three spoke with an admissions officer, but they do not remember setting goals or having strategies. However, all eight participants remember speaking with an academic advisor/counselor. Four participants out of eight remember seeking academic advice and creating strategies on how to achieve those goals. It was not a plan mapped out with the academic advisor. It was a student-created plan as a way of getting through the semester.

In most situations, the academic advisor was instrumental in advising students to select the appropriate classes for their field of study. For example, participant three stated that his academic counselor set him up with the best schedule to get him to the next level. On the other hand, participant two felt that his academic advisor had him taking many classes that did not benefit him and had no interest in taking. There were only two participants who remember an academic advisor going over their high school transcripts with them.

The lack of a transparent process by the admissions office and the academic advising office led to a lack of consistency in creating goals and strategies. In identifying

success factors for men of color at the community college, success outcomes are shaped by the interaction between pre-college considerations before enrollment (Harris & Wood, 2013, p. 176). This study reveals that four out of eight students did not have a good experience with the admissions or academic advising office. The collaboration between the two entry points upon enrollment could help create goals and strategies for men of color.

Absence of Mentoring

The next theme, absence of mentoring, states that men of color in the study had a limited understanding of mentorship. Three of eight participants in the study had a relationship with a mentor. Mentors are essential in various stages of development in students' lives, especially Black male mentoring (Wendt, 2018). However, when asked how participants described speaking with an internal/external mentor, five of eight participants did not have an internal/external mentor, and they could not define the purpose of a mentor. Woods (2014) states that men of color advisors consciously or unconsciously provide students with a sense of belonging.

Participant 3 states that coming out of Seattle, he had many mentors, but two or three gave him advice, and then he had a mentor who reached out to him and asked him to mentor young kids. Participant 7 states that when he looks at a mentor, he looks at somebody who is there consistently there to motivate, not just to understand. Mentors are essential in various stages of development in your life, especially for men of color (Wendt, 2018). Two participants in the study that did not persist felt that a mentor would have made a difference in their academic success. Research has shown that formal

mentoring programs have had success (Harris & Wood, 2013). The lack of mentoring during enrollment for the participants in this study impacted persistence.

Mentoring provides a way to seek help as students matriculate through the college experience. It is essential for men of color, as the results of this study indicated. Men of color must receive external support because it plays a big part in their persistence during the first year (Williams & Coaxun, 2018). The results of this study indicate the importance of having a mentor during the first year of college, especially for men of color. The collaboration between admissions, academic advising, and an internal/external mentor would make a difference in persistence for men of color. The theme of absence of mentors is illustrated by this participant response:

Yeah, I did have many mentors from Seattle, but not a lot, but two or three people who gave me advice, you know, even beforehand. And then I have a mentor who I was one of my mentors reach out to me and ask me to mentor young kids so I can have a lead, like mentoring young kids as I got paid for that. I kind of mentor myself, you know, because I knew I was in that position. I understand that. (Participant 3)

Self-Perseverance

The theme self-perseverance states that men of color in the study believed they were the arbiters of their success. All participants had in common that they believed that their success was ultimately up to them. The interview sub-questions were based on this theme: What is your recommendation about what the institution could do to help other men of color in a similar situation? Participant 7 stated that his positive attitude helped

propel him to the best grade possible in every class that he took. He knew that there would be hiccups along the way, but he was prepared to overcome any obstacle. If the class were more difficult than anticipated, he would talk to himself to get past the obstacle. This study pointed to participants who did not persist during the first year but still showed determination to succeed regardless of obstacles.

Participant 6 stated that he was not encouraged to pursue educational classes when he was at the research site and felt that he was there to play football. However, participant 6 does not blame anyone because he felt he needed to make money since he had recently moved out. He is determined to go back to a different community college when he reenrolls. Participant 1 felt that the school tried to help, but he was not ready for help. He feels that students must be motivated to succeed in college, and at that time, he was not ready. Participant 1 has decided that his focus will not be on academic courses but on courses that are of general interest to him when he goes back. The engagement of participants from either an admissions officer, academic advisor, or internal/external mentor could have made a difference for participants who did not persist during the first year.

Absence of an Academic Roadmap

Absence of an academic roadmap as a theme stated that men of color in the study did not have clear directions in their academic pursuits. This theme was related to the RQ, How do men of color describe their academic goals and form strategies to accomplish those goals during the first year? Study results show that participants did not have clear goals and strategies for persistence during the first year. Six of eight

participants do not remember talking to an admissions officer during the application process. Men of color need the admissions office to prepare for the application process (Bethea, 2016). Participant 7 stated that he was not prepared for the college system at that time, and he did not have many resources as a person of color. However, he had always been a good student, so he could navigate his way through the system and persist during the first year.

The academic advising office helped students with self-perseverance. It offers students a chance to discuss goals and other barriers that may impede their success (Thelin, 2011). More importantly, it may save a student who may feel academically overwhelmed and who is about to drop out. For example, participant 5 states that: "I told myself that I should try, and it was easy, easier to pick up on things real fast. Everything I do, I think of me". The strategy that participant 5 used to stay in college was that he would not work and focus on schoolwork with his family support. He also indicated that he held himself accountable to follow through with taking classes that required less rigor and the more challenging courses during the first year. This strategy worked well for Participant 5, who persisted during the first year, as illustrated by this response: "Moreover, I was not sure. I just signed up with no clear goal in mind. I just did it because I am like, I do not know what else."

Recommendations

Using themes generated from the research results, theories of self-efficacy, and current literature, I developed three recommendations for Goal and Strategy Formation.

The first two recommendations include: creating a goal and strategy checklist and

creating a sign-off form to ensure that students have an internal/external mentor as part of their program. The third recommendation is to assign an internal/external mentor to students who do not have one.

Create a Goal and Strategy Checklist

Creating a goal and strategy checklist during the admissions process will ensure that the college of study has initial contact with men of color before enrollment. This list would ensure that students had a process for persistence during the first year and beyond. Educational and academic goals contribute to men of color at the community college (Villareal & Garcia, 2016). The goal and strategy formation would include goal-setting theory. The goal-setting theory claims that establishing clearly defined specific goals stimulates goal-directed behavior and boosts performance (Lock & Latham, 2013). Students need to have strategies and self-efficacy to overcome hurdles that may impede persistence (Casperan & Raaen, 2014). According to Latham (2013), goal setting is related to individual performance improvement.

The goal-setting theory also states that individuals who set goals are more likely to perform at higher levels than individuals who do not set goals. Research has shown that setting challenging goals and participating in the goal process positively influences performance (McShane & Von Glinow, 2005). This checklist would be required to be administered during the admissions process, and it would be an enrollment requirement. Included in the checklist would be clear guidelines for how to create goals and strategies. The checklist during admissions could coordinate with the academic advising office.

Create a Sign-Off Form Between Admissions, Academic Advising, and

Internal/External Mentors

A sign-off form is a document signed by all the stakeholders. Creating goals and strategies, the collaboration between admissions, advising, and internal/external mentors would ensure that students have verification that they have created goals and strategies. More importantly, having a checkoff form ensures that all stakeholders are involved in the success of students. Students must interface with all three departments during the application process. Students using the sign-off form ensure they are aware of the process. The extension of this process helps with establishing a culture at the school of study that fosters persistence. Men of color are provided a blueprint for how to navigate community college during their first year.

Figure 1

Process for Navigating the First Year of College



Assign an Internal/External Mentor

The assignment of an internal/external mentor would be an essential part of the school culture. This assignment would ensure that men of color who enter the school of study will have someone to support throughout their tenure at the school. Mentors are essential to men of color due to the lack of engagement that they experience at the college level. The team would decide whether the mentoring is formal or informal. Often formal mentoring programs are designed to increase enrollment and retention of minority and other students and increase student satisfaction with the academic experience (Harris & Wood, 2013). More importantly, is that students would have a support system in place during their first year.

The internal/external mentoring selection should collaborate between the student, admissions, and academic advising. Once mentors were selected, one of the requirements would be for the student and the mentor to have a sign-off agreement that describes the nature of the relationship. The sign-off form would include the agreement between the mentor and the student. The mentoring relationship must be defined to ensure that everyone is in complete agreement with the nature of the relationship. Input should come from admissions and advising, with students having the final input. As Participant 7 stated, "The school does not know the magnitude of issues students face. They see their friends get killed. They could come from a single-parent home. They do not know whether the student has eaten or not."

Concluding Thoughts

The challenge of creating goals and strategies and creating a process for how to persist beyond the first year for men of color is new to the field of research. Participants in this study were not familiar with goals and strategies related to academics. Although some participants managed to create goals and strategies, it was not strategic. Five participants persisted during the first year, but only three participants had clear goals but no strategies during the enrollment process. Failure to create goals and strategies during enrollment led to some unnecessary hardship. Due to hardships in the country, the lack of planning could delay graduation for many men of color.

Implementing recommendations in this paper may help with persistence during the first year, especially for men of color. In addition, creating a process where there is accountability for everyone involved could lead to more men of color graduating from community college within a specified time. Further, increasing graduation rates will lead to a more sustained workforce.

References

- Bandura, A., & Schunk, D. H. (1981). Cultivating competence, self-efficacy, and intrinsic interest through proximal self-motivation. *Journal of Personality and Social**Psychology, 41(3), 586–598. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.41.3.586
- Bethea, K. A. (2016). College prep and access from the perspective of Diversity College Admissions Professionals. *College and University*, *91*(3), 2-11.
- Brooms, D.R. (2014). Mapping pathways to affirmative identities among black bales:

 Instilling the Importance of Education in K12 and College Classrooms: Journal of African American Males in Education 5(2).
- Bush, E. C. & Bush, L. (2010). Calling out the elephant: An examination of African

 American male achievement in community college. *Journal of African American Males in Education 1* (1), 40-62.
- Bui, K.V.T. (2002). First-generation college students at a four-year university:

 Background characteristics, reasons for pursuing higher education, and first-year experiences. *College Student Journal*, *36*, 3-11.
- Casperan, J. & Raaen, F.D., (2014) Novice teachers and how they cope, Teachers and Teaching, 20:2, 189-211. https://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2013.848570
- Creswell, J.W. (2012). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research. (4th ed). Boston Massachusetts.
- Gutiérrez, M. & Tomás, J.M. (2019) The role of perceived autonomy support in predicting university students' academic success mediated by academic self-efficacy and school engagement, *Educational Psychology*, 39 (6), 729-748,

- https://doi: 10.1080/01443410.2019.1566519
- Harris, F., III, & Wood, J. L. (2013). Student success for men of color in community colleges: A review of published literature and research, 1998–2012. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, 6(3), 174–185. http://doi.org/10.1037/a0034224
- Harris, F., III, & Wood, J. L. (2014). Examining the status of men of color in California community colleges: Recommendations for state policymakers. *Minority Male Community College Collaborative*.
- Harris III, F., Wood, J. L., & Newman, C. (2015). An exploratory investigation of the effect of racial and masculine identity on focus: An examination of White, Black, Mexicano, Latino, and Asian men in community colleges. *Culture, Society & Masculinities*, 7(1), 61–72.
- Harrison, M.C. (2018). Engaging African American males in community college: A volume in the contemporary perspectives on access, equity, and achievement.University of North Carolina at Charlotte. 145-165
- Hudley, C. (2009). Academic motivation and achievement of African American youth. InH. Neville, B. Tynes, & S. Utsey (Eds.), *Handbook of African American*psychology (pp. 187-198). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Lietz, C. A., Langer, C. L., & Furman, R. (2006). Establishing trustworthiness in qualitative research in social work: Implications from a study regarding spirituality. *Qualitative Social Work*, *5*(4), 441–458. https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325006070288
- Locke, E. A., & Latham, G. P. (2013). New developments in goal setting and task

- performance. Routledge. http://dx.doi.org/10.4324/9780203082744
- McGlynn, A. (2011). Envisioning equity: Educating and graduating low-income firstgeneration and minority college students. Atwood.
- McShane, S. L., & Von Glinow, M.A. (2005). Organizational behavior: emerging realities for the workplace revolution. McGraw-Hill Irwin, Boston, MA.
- Museus, S. D., & Ravello, J. N. (2010). Characteristics of academic advising that contribute to racial and ethnic minority student success at predominantly white institutions. *NACADA Journal*, *30*(1), 47–58. https://doi.org/10.12930/0271-9517-30.1.47
- Strayhorn, T. L. (2017). Factors that influence the persistence and success of Black men in urban public universities. *Urban Education* 52(9), 1106-1128. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085915623347
- Thelin, J. R. (2011). A history of American higher education. Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Thompson, R., & Parker, S. (2007). The national urban league equality index. *In The State of Black America 2007: Portrait of the Black male* (pp. 17-58). Beckham.
- Thompson, K.V. & Verdino, J. (2019). An exploratory study of self-efficacy in community college students. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 43(6), 476-479. https://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2018.1504701
- Torrens, O.D., Salinas, C. Jr. & Floyd, D.L. (2017) Examining the value of mentoring and men of color staff members of a community college. *Mentoring & Tutoring:*Partnership in Learning, 25(5), 509-527, https://

- doi.org/10.1080/13611267.2017.1415830
- Turner, C. S. V., González, J. C., & Wood, J. L. (2008). Faculty of color in academe: What 20 years of literature tells us. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, *1*(3), 139–168. https://doi.org/ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1037/a0012837
- Vasquez, M.C., Vang, M., Garcia, F., & Harris, F. III (2019). What do i eat? Where do i sleep? A concern for men of color in community college. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 43(4), 295-306. http://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2018.1478340
- Villarreal, M.D. & García, H.A. (2016) Self-Determination and goal aspirations: African American and Latino males' perceptions of their persistence in ommunity college basic and transfer-level writing courses, *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 40(10), 838-853. https://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2015.1125314
- Wendt, J.L., 2018. Engaging African American males in community college. Information Age Publishing, pp. 95-120.
- Williams, J. & Coaxun, J. III (2018) Fostering success for Black males at a community college through an educational opportunity fund program. American males in community college. Linden, NJ
- Wood, J. L., & Harris III, F. (2015). The effect of college selection factors on persistence:

 An examination of Black and Latino males in the community college. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice, 16*(4), 511–535.

 Retrieved from https://works.bepress.com/jluke_wood/66/

- Wood, J.L., Hilton, A.A. & Hicks, T. (2014) Motivational Factors for Academic Success: *The National Journal of Urban Education and Policy*, 7(3).
- Wood, J.L., & Newman, C.B. (2017). Predictors of faculty-student engagement for Black Men in urban community colleges: An investigation of the community college survey of men. *Urban Education*, 52(9), 1057-1079.
- Wood, J.L., & Williams, R. (2013). Persistence factors for Black males in the community college: An examination of background, academic, social, and environmental variables. *Spectrum: A Journal of Black Men, I*(2), 1-28.
- Xiong, C., Allen, C. & Wood, J.L (2017). The role of community counselors as validating agents on men of color student success: *Journal of Research and Practice*, 40(6) 558-561.